# HP Network Node Manager iSPI for IP Telephony Software

For the Windows ® operating system

Software Version: 9.20

**Online Help for Reports** 



Document Release Date: May 2012

Software Release Date: January 2013

### **Legal Notices**

### Warranty

The only warranties for HP products and services are set forth in the express warranty statements accompanying such products and services. Nothing herein should be construed as constituting an additional warranty. HP shall not be liable for technical or editorial errors or omissions contained herein.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice.

### **Restricted Rights Legend**

Confidential computer software. Valid license from HP required for possession, use or copying. Consistent with FAR 12.211 and 12.212, Commercial Computer Software, Computer Software Documentation, and Technical Data for Commercial Items are licensed to the U.S. Government under vendor's standard commercial license.

### **Copyright Notice**

© Copyright 2008 - 2013 Hewlett-Packard Development Company, L.P.

### **Trademark Notices**

Microsoft® and Windows® are U.S. registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

UNIX® is a registered trademark of The Open Group.

HP-UX Release 10.20 and later and HP-UX Release 11.00 and later (in both 32 and 64-bit configurations) on all HP 9000 computers are Open Group UNIX 95 branded products.

Oracle and Java are registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates

### **Documentation Updates**

The title page of this document contains the following identifying information:

- Software Version number, which indicates the software version.
- Document Release Date, which changes each time the document is updated.
- Software Release Date, which indicates the release date of this version of the software.

To check for recent updates or to verify that you are using the most recent edition of a document, go to:

#### http://h20230.www2.hp.com/selfsolve/manuals

This site requires that you register for an HP Passport and sign in. To register for an HP Passport ID, go to:

#### http://h20229.www2.hp.com/passport-registration.html

Or click the New users - please register link on the HP Passport login page.

You will also receive updated or new editions if you subscribe to the appropriate product support service. Contact your HP sales representative for details.

### Support

Visit the HP Software Support Online web site at:

#### http://www.hp.com/go/hpsoftwaresupport

This web site provides contact information and details about the products, services, and support that HP Software offers.

HP Software online support provides customer self-solve capabilities. It provides a fast and efficient way to access interactive technical support tools needed to manage your business. As a valued support customer, you can benefit by using the support web site to:

- Search for knowledge documents of interest
- Submit and track support cases and enhancement requests
- Download software patches
- Manage support contracts
- Look up HP support contacts
- Review information about available services
- · Enter into discussions with other software customers
- · Research and register for software training

Most of the support areas require that you register as an HP Passport user and sign in. Many also require a support contract. To register for an HP Passport ID, go to:

#### http://h20229.www2.hp.com/passport-registration.html

To find more information about access levels, go to:

#### http://h20230.www2.hp.com/new\_access\_levels.jsp

### **Disclaimer for PDF Version of Online Help**

This document is a PDF version of the online help. This PDF file is provided so you can easily print multiple topics from the help information or read the online help in PDF format.

**Note**: Some topics do not convert properly to PDF, causing format problems. Some elements of online help are completely removed from the PDF version. Those problem topics can be successfully printed from within the online help.

### Contents

Online Help for Reports	1
Contents	6
Avaya IP Telephony Reports.	25
Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports	25
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports	26
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports.	~~
	26
	27
Specifying Topology Filters.	27
Specifying Metrics for Reports	29
Types of Reports.	30
Chart Detail Report	30
Heat Chart Report	31
Top N Report	32
Most Changed Report	33
Calendar Report.	34
Top N Chart Report	35
Peak Period Report	36
Scheduling Reports.	37
Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports	38
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya CDR Reporting	38
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports	39
Specifying Time Controls.	39
Specifying Topology Filters.	40
Specifying Metrics for Reports	45
Types of Reports.	46
Chart Detail Report.	46
Heat Chart Report	47

	Top N Report	48
	Recent Calls Report	49
	Top N Chart Report	50
	Most Changed Report	51
	Calendar Report	52
	Peak Period Report	53
	Scheduling Reports	53
Av	aya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports	54
	Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reporting	y 54
	Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports.	55
	Specifying Time Controls	55
	Specifying Topology Filters	56
	Specifying Metrics for Reports	58
	Types of Reports	59
	Chart Detail Report	59
	Heat Chart Report	60
	Top N Report	60
	Top N Chart Report	62
	Most Changed Report	63
	Calendar Report	64
	Peak Period Report	65
	Scheduling Reports	65
Av	aya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports	66
	Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Media Gateway Call Reporting	67
	Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports	67
	Specifying Time Controls	68
	Specifying Topology Filters	68
	Specifying Metrics for Reports	70
	Types of Reports.	71
	Chart Detail Report	71
	Heat Chart Report	72

Top N Report	. 73
Top N Chart Report	. 74
Most Changed Report	. 76
Calendar Report	77
Peak Period Report	. 77
Scheduling Reports	. 78
Avaya IP Telephony DSP and CODEC Usage Summary Reports	. 78
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony DSP and CODEC Usage Summary . Reporting.	79
Specifying Time Controls	. 79
Specifying Topology Filters	. 80
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports	. 81
Specifying Metrics for Reports	. 82
Types of Reports	. 83
Chart Detail Report	. 83
Heat Chart Report	. 84
Top N Report	. 84
Top N Chart Report	. 86
Most Changed Report	. 87
Calendar Report	88
Peak Period Report	. 88
Scheduling Reports	. 89
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports	. 89
Specifying Metrics for Reports	. 90
Types of Reports	. 91
Chart Detail Report	. 91
Heat Chart Report	. 92
Top N Report	. 92
Top N Chart Report	. 94
Most Changed Report	. 95
Calendar Report	96
Peak Period Report	. 96

Scheduling Reports	
Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Load Statistics Reports	
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Load Statist Reporting.	ics
Specifying Time Controls	
Specifying Topology Filters	
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load	Reports… 100
Specifying Metrics for Reports.	101
Chart Detail Report	102
Heat Chart Report	102
Top N Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Most Changed Report	106
Peak Period Report	
Calendar Report	107
Scheduling Reports.	107
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports	108
Specifying Metrics for Reports	109
Chart Detail Report	109
Calendar Report	110
Heat Chart Report	110
Top N Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Peak Period Report	
Most Changed Report	114
Scheduling Reports	115
Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports	116
Specifying Metrics for Reports	116
Types of Reports	117
Chart Detail Report	117
Heat Chart Report	118
Top N Report	

Top N Chart Report	120
Most Changed Report	121
Calendar Report	122
Peak Period Report	123
Scheduling Reports	123
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports	124
Specifying Metrics for Reports	124
Types of Reports	125
Chart Detail Report	125
Heat Chart Report	126
Top N Report	127
Top N Chart Report	128
Most Changed Report	129
Calendar Report	130
Peak Period Report	131
Scheduling Reports	131
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports	132
Specifying Metrics for Reports	132
Types of Reports	133
Chart Detail Report	133
Heat Chart Report	134
Top N Report	134
Top N Chart Report	136
Most Changed Report	137
Calendar Report	138
Peak Period Report	138
Scheduling Reports	139
Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Call Reports	140
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Trunk Calls Reporting	140
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports	140
Specifying Time Controls.	141
Specifying Topology Filters	141

Specifying Metrics for Reports	143
Types of Reports	144
Chart Detail Report	144
Heat Chart Report	145
Top N Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Most Changed Report	148
Calendar Report	149
Peak Period Report	150
Scheduling Reports	150
Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern and Trunk Group Usage Reports	151
Prerequisites to Enable Avaya CDR Reporting	151
Specifying Time Controls	151
Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports	152
Specifying Topology Filters	153
Specifying Metrics for Reports	154
Types of Reports	155
Types of Reports	155 156
Types of Reports Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report	155 156 156
Types of Reports Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. P.01 GoS Summary Report.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. P.01 GoS Summary Report. Scheduling Reports.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. P.01 GoS Summary Report. Scheduling Reports. Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports.	155 156 156 157 158 160 160 161 161 162 162 162 163
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. Peak Usage Report. Scheduling Reports. Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports.	
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. Peak Usage Report. P.01 GoS Summary Report. Scheduling Reports. Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports.	155 156 156 157 158 160 160 161 161 161 162 162 163 163 163 163
Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Top N Chart Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report. Peak Period Report. Peak Usage Report. Peak Usage Report. P.01 GoS Summary Report. Scheduling Reports. Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports.	155 156 156 157 158 160 160 160 161 161 162 162 163 163 163 163 166 167

	Heat Chart Report	168
	Top N Report	
	Top N Chart Report	
	Most Changed Report	171
	Calendar Report	172
	Peak Period Report	173
	P.01 Grade of Service Summary Report.	173
	Scheduling Reports	174
Av	aya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports	175
	Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reporting	175
	Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports	176
	Specifying Time Controls	176
	Specifying Topology Filters	
	Specifying Metrics for Reports	178
	Types of Reports	179
	Chart Detail Report	179
	Heat Chart Report	180
	Top N Report	
	Top N Chart Report	
	Most Changed Report	183
	Calendar Report	184
	Peak Period Report	
	Scheduling Reports	185
Av	aya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports	
	Prerequisites to Enable Avaya RTP Session Metrics Reporting	186
	Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports	
	Specifying Time Controls	187
	Specifying Topology Filters	
	Specifying Metrics for Reports	190
	Types of Reports	191
	Chart Detail Report	191
	Heat Chart Report	

Top N Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Most Changed Report	
Calendar Report	196
Peak Period Report	
Recent Sessions Report	
Scheduling Reports	197
Cisco IP Telephony Reports	199
Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports	
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco CDR Reporting	200
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports	
Specifying Time Controls	
Specifying the Hour of the Day and the Day of the Week	202
Specifying Topology Filters	
Types of Reports	206
Duration Volume Reports	206
Specifying Metrics for Reports	207
Chart Detail Report	209
Heat Chart Report	209
Top N Report	
Recent Calls Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Most Changed Report	213
Calendar Report	214
Peak Period Report	
Scheduling Reports	
Hourly Usage Reports	216
Specifying Metrics for Reports.	217
Chart Detail Report	217
Heat Chart Report	218
Top N Report	
Most Changed Report	220

Calendar Report	221
Peak Period Report	. 221
Top N Chart Report	. 222
Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports	. 223
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway Calls Reporting	223
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports	. 224
Specifying Time Controls	. 224
Specifying Topology Filters	. 225
Types of Reports	. 227
Duration Volume Reports	. 227
Specifying Metrics for Reports.	228
Chart Detail Report	. 230
Heat Chart Report	. 230
Top N Report	. 231
Most Changed Report	. 232
Calendar Report	233
Top N Chart Report	. 234
Blocked Calls Percentage Report	. 235
P.01 GoS Summary Report	. 236
Peak Period Report	. 237
Scheduling Reports	. 237
Hourly Usage Reports	238
Specifying Metrics for Reports.	238
Chart Detail Report	. 239
Calendar Report	240
Heat Chart Report	. 240
Most Changed Report	. 241
Peak Period Report	. 242
Top N Chart Report	. 242
Top N Report	. 243
Cisco IP Telephony IP Trunk Calls Reports.	245
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Trunk Call Reporting	245

Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports	3
Specifying Time Controls	3
Specifying Topology Filters	7
Types of Reports	9
Duration Volume Reports	9
Specifying Metrics for Reports	9
Chart Detail Report	1
Heat Chart Report	1
Top N Report	2
Most Changed Report	3
Calendar Report	4
Top N Chart Report	5
Peak Period Report	6
Scheduling Reports	3
Hourly Usage Reports	7
Specifying Metrics for Reports	3
Chart Detail Report	9
Calendar Report	9
Heat Chart Report	C
Most Changed Report	C
Peak Period Report	1
Top N Chart Report	1
Top N Report	3
Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports	4
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports 264	4
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports. 265	5
Specifying Time Controls	6
Specifying Topology Filters	3
Types of Reports	В
Duration Volume Reports	Э
Specifying Metrics for Reports	Э

Chart Detail Report	270
Heat Chart Report	271
Top N Report	272
Most Changed Report	273
Calendar Report	274
Top N Chart Report	275
Peak Period Report	276
Scheduling Reports	
Hourly Usage Reports	278
Specifying Metrics for Reports.	278
Chart Detail Report	279
Calendar Report	280
Heat Chart Report	280
Most Changed Report	281
Peak Period Report	
Top N Chart Report	
Top N Report	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports	283 285
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports	283 285 285
Top N Report. Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports	
Top N Report. Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls.	
Top N Report. Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Topology Filters.	283 285 285 285 286 286 286 287
Top N Report. Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports.	283 285 285 286 286 286 287 289
Top N Report. Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports.	283 285 285 286 286 286 287 289 
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls Specifying Topology Filters Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Chart Detail Report	283 285 285 286 286 286 287 289 
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report.	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Topology Filters. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report.	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls Specifying Topology Filters Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report Most Changed Report	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports. Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls Specifying Topology Filters Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Calendar Report.	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls Specifying Topology Filters Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report Calendar Report Top N Chart Report	
Top N Report Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports Specifying Time Controls Specifying Topology Filters Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report Most Changed Report Calendar Report Top N Chart Report Peak Period Report	

Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports	97
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reporting 29	98
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports	98
Specifying Time Controls. 29	98
Specifying Topology Filters	99
Specifying Metrics for Reports	01
Types of Reports	02
Chart Detail Report	02
Heat Chart Report	02
Top N Report	03
Most Changed Report	04
Calendar Report	05
Top N Chart Report	05
Scheduling Reports	07
Cisco IP Telephony Media Resource Activity Reports	08
Glossary of Metrics	08
Media Resource Activity Chart Detail Report	09
Media Resource Activity Heat Chart Report	09
Media Resource Activity Calendar Report 31	10
Media Resource Activity Most Changed Report	11
Media Resource Activity Peak Period Report	12
Media Resource Activity Top N Report	13
Media Resource Activity Top N Chart	14
Cisco IP Telephony UCM Health Reports	15
Glossary of Metrics	16
Calendar Report	19
Chart Details Report	20
Heat Chart Report	21
Most Change Report	21
Peak Period Report	22
Top N Report	23
Top N Chart Report	24

Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports	325
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Voice Mail Reporting.	. 325
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports	
Specifying Time Controls.	
Specifying Topology Filters	
Specifying Metrics for Reports	
Types of Reports	. 331
Chart Detail Report	331
Heat Chart Report	. 332
Top N Report	332
Most Changed Report	334
Calendar Report	. 334
Peak Period Report	335
Top N Chart Report	
Scheduling Reports	. 336
Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports	. 337
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco UCM Call Activity Reporting	338
Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports	. 338
Specifying Time Controls.	339
Specifying Topology Filters	340
Specifying Metrics for Reports	. 341
Types of Reports	. 342
Chart Detail Report	342
Heat Chart Report	. 343
Top N Report	343
Most Changed Report	344
Calendar Report	. 345
Top N Chart Report	346
Scheduling Reports	. 347
Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports	. 348
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reporting	. 348
Accessing the Cisco IPT UCM TFTP Server Reports.	. 349

Specifying Time Controls	349
Specifying Topology Filters	350
Specifying Metrics for Reports	351
Types of Reports	353
Chart Detail Report	353
Heat Chart Report	354
Top N Report	354
Most Changed Report	356
Calendar Report	356
Top N Chart Report	357
Scheduling Reports	358
Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports	359
Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reporting	360
Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports	360
Specifying Time Controls	360
Specifying Topology Filters	361
Specifying Metrics for Reports	363
Types of Reports	364
Chart Detail Report	364
Heat Chart Report	365
Top N Report	365
Most Changed Report	367
Calendar Report	367
Top N Chart Report	368
Scheduling Reports	369
Microsoft IP Telephony Reports	371
Call Reports	371
Prerequisites to Enable Call Reports	371
Specifying Time Controls	372
Call Detail Reports	372
Specifying Metrics for Reports	373
Specifying Topology Filters	374

Types of Reports	377
Calendar Report	377
Chart Detail Report	378
Heat Chart Report	378
Top N Report	379
Most Changed Report	380
Top N Chart Report	381
Call Quality Reports	382
Specifying Metrics for Reports	383
Specifying Topology Filters	384
Types of Reports	386
Calendar Report	387
Chart Detail Report	387
Heat Chart Report	388
Top N Report	388
Most Changed Report	389
Top N Chart Report	390
Gateway Statistics Reports	391
Prerequisites to Enable Gateway Statistics Reports	392
Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports	392
Specifying Topology Filters.	392
Specifying Time Controls.	394
Specifying Time Controls	394 395
Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports.	394 395 396
Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report.	394 395 396 396
Specifying Time Controls. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report.	394 395 396 396 397
Specifying Time Controls Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Calendar Report Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report	394 395 396 396 397 397
Specifying Time Controls Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Calendar Report Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report	394 395 396 396 397 397
Specifying Time Controls Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Calendar Report Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report Most Changed Report	<ul> <li>394</li> <li>395</li> <li>396</li> <li>397</li> <li>397</li> <li>398</li> <li>399</li> </ul>
Specifying Time Controls	<ul> <li>394</li> <li>395</li> <li>396</li> <li>396</li> <li>397</li> <li>397</li> <li>398</li> <li>399</li> <li>400</li> </ul>
Specifying Time Controls	<ul> <li>394</li> <li>395</li> <li>396</li> <li>396</li> <li>397</li> <li>398</li> <li>399</li> <li>400</li> <li>401</li> </ul>

Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports	402
Specifying Topology Filters.	402
Specifying Time Controls	404
Specifying Metrics for Reports	405
Types of Reports	406
Calendar Report	406
Chart Detail Report	406
Heat Chart Report	407
Top N Report	407
Most Changed Report	409
Top N Chart Report	410
Microsoft Exchange Server Reports	411
Prerequisites to Enable Microsoft Exchange Server Reports	411
Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports.	412
Specifying Time Controls	412
Specifying Topology Filters	413
Specifying Metrics for Reports	415
Types of Reports	416
Calendar Report	417
Chart Detail Report	417
Heat Chart Report	418
Top N Report	418
Most Changed Report	420
Top N Chart Report	420
Microsoft Lync Reports	422
Prerequisites to Enable Microsoft Lync Reports	422
Specifying Topology Filters	422
Specifying Time Controls	425
Microsoft Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports	425
Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports	426
Specifying Metrics for Reports	426
Types of Reports	427

Calendar Report	428
Chart Detail Report	428
Heat Chart Report	429
Top N Report	429
Most Changed Report	430
Top N Chart Report	431
Microsoft Archiving Server Reports	
Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports	433
Specifying Metrics for Reports	433
Types of Reports	434
Calendar Report	435
Chart Detail Report	435
Heat Chart Report	436
Top N Report	436
Most Changed Report	437
Top N Chart Report	438
Microsoft Lync Director Server Reports	439
Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports	440
Specifying Metrics for Reports	440
Types of Reports	442
Calendar Report	442
Chart Detail Report	442
Chart Detail Report	442 443
Chart Detail Report Heat Chart Report Top N Report	442 443 443
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Edge Server Reports.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports.	
Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report.	

	455
Top N Report	455
Most Changed Report	457
Top N Chart Report	458
Microsoft Frontend Server Reports	459
Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports	459
Specifying Metrics for Reports	459
Types of Reports	462
Calendar Report	463
Chart Detail Report	463
Heat Chart Report	464
Top N Report	464
Most Changed Report	465
Top N Chart Report	466
Microsoft Mediation Server Reports	467
Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports	468
Specifying Metrics for Reports	468
Specifying Metrics for Reports	468 470
Specifying Metrics for Reports Types of Reports Calendar Report	468 470 470
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report.	
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report.	
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 473
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 473 473 474 475
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475 475
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475 475 475 478
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475 475 475 475 478 479
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475 475 475 475 475 475 478 479 479
Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report. Top N Report. Most Changed Report. Top N Chart Report. Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports. Specifying Metrics for Reports. Types of Reports. Calendar Report. Chart Detail Report. Heat Chart Report.	468 470 470 470 470 471 471 471 473 474 475 475 475 475 475 475 475 478 479 479 480

Most Changed Report	481
Top N Chart Report	482
Microsoft Registrar Server Reports	483
Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports	484
Specifying Metrics for Reports	484
Types of Reports	487
Calendar Report	487
Chart Detail Report	487
Heat Chart Report	488
Top N Report	488
Most Changed Report	490
Top N Chart Report	491

### Chapter 1

### **Avaya IP Telephony Reports**

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony provides you with the following extension packs to view and analyze the performance data of the Avaya IP telephony environment:

- Avaya\_IPT\_Call\_Terms\_Types
- Avaya\_IPT\_CDR\_Collection
- Avaya\_IPT\_CMProcOccupancy\_Sum
- Avaya\_IPT\_MGW\_Calls
- Avaya\_IPT\_NWReg\_DSP\_CODEC\_Sum
- Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_Calls
- Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_RP\_Usage
- Avaya\_IPT\_Trunk\_Activity
- Avaya\_IPT\_RTP\_Session Metrics

### Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT Calls Terms Types extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports based on the call types and call termination reasons. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

You can filter the reports based on specific dimensions such as Call Types, Termination Reasons, Direction, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. This extension pack helps you in long-term capacity planning.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

### Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony call types and termination reasons reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from the Avaya Communications Manager. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Avaya section for additional information.
- Enable Avaya CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT Calls Terms Types extension pack.

## Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

### To access the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_Calls\_Terms\_Types > Termination\_Reasons\_ and\_Types\_Avaya to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Call Duration (secs) (avg)) as the primary metric and the Period Length (secs) (sum) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can generate a report based on your requirements by specifying the following details:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

### **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

### **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Communications Manager IP Address and call quality metrics such as Call Duration, Period Length, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, icon, icon a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select is an is an Image of the search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select is an is an Image of the search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select is a select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select a value from a value fr
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🔚 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that handled the call.
Call Type	The type of the call.

Attribute	Description
Termination Reason	The reason for the termination of the call.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the communications manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

### **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
Call Duration (secs) (avg)	The average call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sample count of the hourly data records stored in the Network Performance Server (NPS).
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs )	The duration of the calls in seconds.
	<b>Note:</b> You must not select the average value for this metric while generating the report. You may select the average value for the Call Duration (secs) metric.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

### **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Call Duration (avg)** as the secondary metric, generate the report, and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the trend for the Hourly Call Attempts (HCA) and the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) along with the average duration for every hour.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 27to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:

- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

For example, if you want to identify the hour of the month, week, or day when the number of call attempts were the highest, you can select the **Sample Count** as the metric and set the time control options to the default values for this report as discussed in the previous paragraph and then generate the report. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 27to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 29 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Sample Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a call metric. For example, if you select the call count (**Sample Count (sum)**) metric to generate the Heat Chart report, you can use the report to identify the following instances on your IP Telephony network:

• Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high) such as the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) that affected the results for one day.

- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- Verify that a high call volume or call duration condition returned to normal after a period of time.

### Top N Report

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Communication Manager IP Address

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the communication managers in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Communications Manager IP Address** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Communications Manager IP Address call attribute. You

can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 2. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month. You can select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list to see the call data for the past 70 days, based on the duration for which the iSPI for IP Telephony has been processing the CDR data and sharing this data with the NPS.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.

2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 27to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 29 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 26 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 27 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.
## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_Calls\_Terms\_Types
- 4. Click **Termination\_Reasons\_and\_Types\_Avaya**. This opens the Termination\_Reasons\_ and\_Types\_Avaya page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Top N Chart
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - Day of the Week: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report.
    You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report

12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IP Telephony CDR extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the call metrics: call count (Sample Count) and call duration. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the of the calls, such as the IP address of the communication manager that handled the call, the calling party number, the called party number, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

You can use this extension pack to report on the multiple dimensions (attributes) of a call. The extension pack retains the data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a short period of time (32 days). You can use the data for short-term operational reporting and run the reports once a month. You can use the reports for further analysis using custom tools.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Recent Calls
- Peak Period

## Prerequisites to Enable Avaya CDR Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony CDR reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS) in your deployment environment before installing the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS in your deployment environment.
- Configure the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from the Avaya Communications Manager. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for

Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Avaya section for additional information.

- Enable Avaya CDR reporting in the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IP Telephony CDR extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony CDR reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the **Avaya IP Telephony > Call Details > AvayaIPTCDRMetrics** to view a list of the supported Avaya CDR Report formats.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics
- This generates the report based on the default metrics (Call Duration (secs) (avg)) as the primary metric and the Period Length (secs) (sum) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.
- 6. After launching a report, you can generate a report based on your requirements by specifying the following details:
  - Specify time controls
  - Specify topology filters
  - Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes

- 30 Minutes
- 1 Hour
- 2 Hours
- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony marks the call metric data with a universal time stamp known as *seconds since epoch*, which directly reflects the Universal timestamp (in *seconds since epoch*) on the Avaya Communications Manager server that logged the call. The Network Performance Server (NPS) converts this timestamp into the local time as defined by the location of the NPS. If the Avaya Communications Manager server that logged the call is in a different time zone when compared to the time zone of the NPS or the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony, the NPS data will not be in synchronization with the local time of the Avaya Communications Manager server.

Note that when you generate the reports, the NPS converts the time the call was handled by the Avaya Communications Manager server to the local time on the NPS. The reports display this converted time and not the time the call was handled by the Avaya Communications Manager server.

When configuring the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony to access the CDR data on the Avaya Communications Manager server, you must specify the time zone of the Avaya Communications Manager server. The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony uses this time zone information to correctly determine the universal timestamp (*seconds since epoch*) for the call origination time.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the call metric reports based on the various combinations of the call attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Communications Manager IP Address, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.

- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select



- and then select a value of your choice.
- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl-key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select
  is an Image Image Image
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 💷 🖼 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Call Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that handled the call.
Outbound Access Code Dialed	The access code dialed for calls outbound from the communication manager that handled the calls.
Outbound Trunk Group Access Code	The Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) of the

Call Attribute	Description
	outbound trunk group used by the communication manager that handled the outbound routing of the call.
Outbound Trunk Group	The outbound Trunk Group name or number used by the communication manager that handled the outbound routing of the call. If you do not see the required list of Trunk Group names or numbers in the selection list, verify that the Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) for all the trunk groups are displayed correctly by the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony in the Trunk Group Detail Form. You can specify the correct TAC by editing the value in the Trunk Group Detail Form and saving the form (using the <b>Save and Close</b> button on the form). After saving the TAC, the next time the iSPI for IP Telephony processes such a call, the values Trunk Group Names or numbers are listed for you to select.
Outbound Trunk Port	The outbound trunk port used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Outbound Trunk Port Network Number	The outbound trunk port network number used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Outbound Signaling Group	The outbound signaling group used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Inbound Trunk Group Access Code	The Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) of the inbound trunk group used by the communication manager that handled the call at inbound.
Inbound Trunk Group	The inbound Trunk Group name or number used by the communication manager that handled the inbound call. If you do not see the required list of Trunk Group names or numbers in the selection list, verify that the Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) for all the trunk groups are displayed correctly by the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony in the Trunk Group Detail Form. You can specify the correct TAC by editing the value in the Trunk Group Detail Form and saving the form (using the <b>Save and Close</b>

Call Attribute	Description
	button on the form). After saving the TAC, the next time the iSPI for IP Telephony processes such a call, the values Trunk Group Names or numbers are listed for you to select.
Inbound Trunk Port	The inbound trunk port used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Inbound Trunk Port Network Number	The inbound trunk port network number used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Inbound Signaling Group	The inbound signaling group used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Calling Party Number	The number from where the call originated as registered by the communication manager that handled the call.
Called Party Number	The number to which the call was made as registered by the communication manager that handled the call.
Calling Party Location	Specifies the location of the party from where the call originated.
Calling Party Site Code	Specifies the site code configured for the party from where the call originated.
Calling Party Mail-Code	Specifies the mail code configured for the party from where the call originated.
Call Classification	The classification of the call. You can select any or all of the following options to filter information:
	Inbound
	Outbound
	• Tandem
	Intra Switch
	Unknown
Termination Reason	The reason for termination of the call.
Failed Call	Indicates whether a call terminated due to a failure condition. The possible values include the following:

Call Attribute	Description
	No: signifies that the call did not terminate due to a failure condition.
	• Yes: signifies that call terminated due to a failure condition.
Failure Reason	The reason for the failure of the call.
Condition Code	An Avaya internal field that identifies the various aspects of a call.
Authorization Code	The authorization code used for outgoing calls.
Account Code	The account code used to associate call information to the specific account.
Outbound H248GW IP Address	The outbound H248GW IP Address used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Outbound H248GW Media Module Number	The outbound H248GW Media Module Number used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Inbound H248GW IP Address	The inbound H248GW IP Address used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
Inbound H248GW Media Module Number	The inbound H248GW H248GW Media Module Number used by the communication manager that handled the outbound call.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the communications manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.
Called Party Location	Specifies location of the party to which the call was made.
Called Party Site Code	Specifies site code configured for the party to which the call was made.
Called Party Mail-Code	Specifies mail code configured for the party to which the call was made.

You must specify meaningful values for the Location, Site Code, and the Mail-Code attributes for the calling party and the called party if you want to filter the report based on these attributes. You can use the Topology Details Form view to make these changes. The iSPI for IP Telephony does not populate these fields during the automatic discovery.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Call Metric	Description
Call Duration (secs) (avg)	The average call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs )	The duration of the calls in seconds. <b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum options for this metric to generate reports.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

You must specify meaningful values for the Location, Site Code, and the Mail-Code attributes for the calling party and the called party if you want to filter the report based on these attributes. You can use the Topology Details Form view to make these changes. The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony does not populate these fields during the automatic discovery.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Recent Calls
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Call Duration (avg)** as the secondary metric, generate the report, and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the trend for the Hourly Call Attempts (HCA) and the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) along with the average duration for every hour.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 40to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. By default, the Heat Chart report displays the data for all calls from the last 31 days, for all days of the week, for all hours of the day, the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** as the call metric, and with no topology filter selected. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

For example, if you want to identify the hour of the month, week, or day when the number of call attempts were the highest, you can select the **Sample Count** as the metric and set the time control options to the default values for this report as discussed in the previous paragraph and then generate the report. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Chart Detail Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 40to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 45 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Sample Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a call metric. For example, if you select the call count (**Sample Count (sum)**) metric to generate the Heat Chart report, you can use the report to identify the following instances on your IP Telephony network:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high) such as the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) that affected the results for one day.
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- Verify that a high call volume or call duration condition returned to normal after a period of time.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Communication Manager IP Address

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Recent Calls Report

his report by default, displays two of the most recent calls on the network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch the Recent Calls report, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Specify the number of calls to be displayed in the report,
- 5. Select the topology filter to be applied to filter the report.
- 6. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the communication managers in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Communications Manager IP Address** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Communications Manager IP Address call attribute. You

can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.

- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the call metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month. You can select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list to see the call data for the past 70 days, based on the duration for which the iSPI for IP Telephony has been processing the CDR data and sharing this data with the NPS.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 40to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 45 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Call Duration (secs)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 39 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 39 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Call Details
- 4. Click AvayalPTCDRMetrics. This opens the AvayalPTCDRMetrics page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony reports.

- Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT CMProcOccupancy Sum extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the Avaya communication manager processor occupancy. You can generate the report based on the processor occupancy attributes such as the Communication Manager IP address, the SGUUID and the processor occupancy quality metrics such as the system management occupancy percentage, the Static Occupancy Percentage, and so on. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony CDR reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Avaya reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enable Processor Occupancy Summary Reports section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT CMProcOccupancy Sum extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_CMProcOccupancy\_Sum > Processor\_ Occupancy\_Summary to view a list of the supported processor occupancy summary report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Idle Occupancy Percentage) as the primary metric and the Call Processing Occupancy Percentage as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:

- 1 Minute
- 5 Minutes
- 15 Minutes
- 30 Minutes
- 1 Hour
- 2 Hours
- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click Submit to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the processor occupancy metric reports based on the various combinations of the processor occupancy attribute values available in the accumulated processor occupancy metric data .You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, 💴 🖾 🖾 and then select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl- key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select icon

- If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
  - Search and Select icon 🛄 🔚 🖾 . This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
  - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server for which the processor occupancy is reported.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group that is associated with the Communications Manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

• The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.

• By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for an attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
Sample Count	The sample count of the hourly data records stored in the Network Performance Server (NPS).
<sup>1</sup> Idle Occupancy Percentage	The percentage of idle occupancy of the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Call Processing Occupancy Percentage	The percentage of call processing occupancy of the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> System Management Occupancy Percentage	The percentage of system management occupancy of the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Static Occupancy Percentage	The percentage of static occupancy of the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Total Connected Calls	The total connected calls on the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Connected Tandem Calls	The connected tandem calls on the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Total Calls Attempted	The total calls attempted on the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Intercom Calls Attempted	The intercom calls attempted on the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing Calls Attempted	The outgoing calls attempted on the CM processor during the specified time frame.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Calls Attempted	The incoming calls attempted on the CM processor during the specified time frame.
<sup>1</sup> Private Network Calls Attempted	The private network calls attempted on the CM processor during the specified time frame.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected processor occupancy metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 56to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 58 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 56to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 58 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the processor occupancy attributes and the processor occupancy metric, this report ranks the processor occupancy attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the processor occupancy metric. This report includes all the processor occupancy instances that had a variation for the specified processor occupancy

attribute. The report displays the rank of the processor occupancy attribute value along with the processor occupancy metric value and the percentage of the processor occupancy metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the processor occupancy attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the processor occupancy attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Communication Manager IP Address

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the processor occupancy metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of processor occupancy attributes and ranks these groups of processor occupancy attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the

attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the processor occupancy metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a processor occupancy metric, specify the processor occupancy attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain processor occupancy attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 💹

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two processor occupancy metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

 Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame. 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 56to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 58 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 processor occupancy instances based on the **Idle Occupancy Percentage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of in-service trunks on your network. You can select the number of trunk activities you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Communication Manager Processor Occupancy Reports" on page 55 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 55 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_CMProcOccupancy\_Sum
- 4. Click **Processor\_Occupancy\_Summary**. This opens the Processor Occupancy Summary page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart

- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Processor Occupancy reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT MGW Calls extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the calls handled by the media gateway. You can generate reports based on the gateway call attributes such as the Communication Manager IP Address, the Direction, the media gateway, the port network number and so on. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Media Gateway Call Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from the Avaya Communications Manager. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Avaya section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT MGW extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the **Avaya IP Telephony** > **Avaya\_IPT\_MGW\_Calls** > **Media\_Gateway\_Calls** to view a list of the supported Avaya media gateway call report formats.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Period Length (secs) (sum)) as the primary metric and the Call Duration (secs) (avg) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the call metric reports based on the various combinations of the call attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Communications Manager IP Address, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, icon, icon a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
  If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
  If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select
  is an E E E
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🔚 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that handled the call.

Chapter 1:

Attribute	Description
Port Network Number	The port network number used for handling the call.
H248 Media Gateway Media Module Number	The H248 media gateway media module number used by the media gateway to carry the call.
H248 Media Gateway IP Address	The H248 media gateway that carried the call
Direction	The direction of the call. This can be one of the following types:
	• In
	• Out
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the communication manager that handled the call.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Call Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Call Duration (secs) (avg)	The call duration in seconds.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs) (avg)	The average duration of the calls in seconds. <b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum options for this metric to generate reports.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 68to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 70 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. By default, the Heat Chart report displays the data for all calls from the last 31 days, for all days of the week, for all hours of the day, the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** as the call metric, and with no topology filter selected. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

For example, if you want to identify the hour of the month, week, or day when the number of call attempts were the highest, you can select the **Sample Count** as the metric and set the time control options to the default values for this report as discussed in the previous paragraph and then generate the report. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Chart Detail Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 68to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 70 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Sample Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a call metric. For example, if you select the call count (**Sample Count (sum**)) metric to generate the Heat Chart report, you can use the report to identify the following instances on your IP Telephony network:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high) such as the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) that affected the results for one day.
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- Verify that a high call volume or call duration condition returned to normal after a period of time.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Communication Manager IP Address

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the

change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the communication managers in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Communications Manager IP Address** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Communications Manager IP Address call attribute. You

can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 2. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following

message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 68to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 70 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, allows you to identify the peak period for a metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Media Gateway Call Reports" on page 67 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 68 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_MGW\_Calls
- 4. Click Media\_Gateway\_Calls. This opens the Media\_Gateway\_Calls page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony media gateway call reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony DSP and CODEC Usage Summary Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT NWReg DSP CODEC Sum, extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the DSP and CODEC usage summary fir a network region. You can generate the report based on the CODEC and DSP attributes quality metrics. The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony DSP and CODEC Usage Summary Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony DSP and CODEC Usage Summary reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Avaya reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enabling IP Network Region DSP/Codec Summary Report section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT NWReg DSP CODEC Sum extension pack.

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.

- 3. Time Zone: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the Relative Start option.
- 4. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click Submit to apply the changes.

# Specifying Topology Filters

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the CODEC usage summary metric reports based on the various combinations of the CODEC usage summary attribute values available in the accumulated CODEC usage summary metric data . You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

and then select a value of your choice. icon.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl-key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select



If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

E E C . This displays the following options: Search and Select icon

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- **Results**: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the **Insert** button to move the selected values to the **Choices** list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the **Remove** button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- Select the Not option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager.
Network Region	The network region that references the DSP/CODEC resources.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group that is associated with the Communications Manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the CODEC usage summary records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific CODEC usage summary attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports

# To access the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC usage and summary reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_NWReg\_DSP\_Codec\_Sum > Codec\_Usage\_ and\_Summary to view a list of the supported processor occupancy summary report formats.

 You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (G711 Usage) as the primary metric and the G711 in Region Peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> G711 Usage (Erlangs)	The G711 usage in erlangs for the CODEC.
<sup>1</sup> G711 In Region peg	The G711 in region peg for the CODEC.
<sup>1</sup> G711 Out of Region peg	The G711 out of region peg for the CODEC.
<sup>1</sup> G723/9 Usage (Erlangs)	The G723/9 usage for the CODEC.
<sup>1</sup> G723/9 In Region peg	The G723/9 In Region peg for the CODEC.
<sup>1</sup> G723/9 Out of Region peg	The G723/9 out of Region peg for the CODEC
<sup>1</sup> Total Number of IP Codec Resources	The total number of IP Codec resources.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected CODEC usage metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected CODEC usage metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 82 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the CODEC usage attributes and the CODEC usage metric, this report ranks the CODEC usage attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the CODEC usage metric. This report includes all the CODEC usage instances that had a variation for the specified CODEC usage attribute. The report displays the rank of the CODEC usage attribute value along with the CODEC usage metric value and the percentage of the CODEC usage metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the CODEC usage attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the CODEC usage attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
 Note: You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon 1.

Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the CODEC usage metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of CODEC usage attributes and ranks these groups of CODEC usage attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the CODEC usage metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a CODEC usage metric, specify the CODEC usage attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain CODEC usage attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two CODEC usage metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following

**message**: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 82 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 CODEC usage instances based on the **G711 Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of CODEC usage instances on your network. You can select the number of CODEC usage instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage and Summary Reports" on page 81 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_NWReg\_DSP\_Codec\_Sum
- 4. Click Codec\_Usage\_and\_Summary. This opens the Codec Usage Summary page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - N Chart
  - Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony CODEC Usage Summary reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony DSP usage Summary reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_NWReg\_DSP\_Codec\_Sum > DSP\_Usage\_ and\_Summary to view a list of the supported DSP usage summary report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (DSP Usages) as the primary metric and the In Region peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the DSP usage metrics or the DSP usage attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> DSP Usages	The DSP usage in erlangs.
<sup>1</sup> In Region peg	The In Region peg for the DSP.
<sup>1</sup> Denials peg	The denials peg for the DSP.
<sup>1</sup> Blocked Percentage	The percentage of blocked services by the DSP.
<sup>1</sup> Out of Services Percentage	The percentage of out of service services by the DSP.
<sup>1</sup> Total Number of DSP Resources	The total number of DSP resources.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)

• Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected DSP usage metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the **Chart or Table** drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected DSP usage metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 90 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the DSP usage attributes and the DSP usage metric, this report ranks the DSP usage attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the DSP usage metric. This report includes all the DSP usage instances that had a variation for the specified DSP usage attribute. The report displays the rank of the DSP usage attribute value along with the DSP usage metric value and the percentage of the DSP usage metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the DSP usage attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the DSP usage attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
 Note: You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon <sup>1</sup>/<sub>1</sub>.

Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the DSP usage metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of processor occupancy attributes and ranks these groups of DSP usage attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the DSP usage metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a DSP usage metric, specify the DSP usage attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain DSP usage attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>21</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two DSP usage metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following

**message**: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 80to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 90 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 DSP usage instances based on the **DSP Usages** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of DSP usage instances on your network. You can select the number of DSP usage instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony DSP Usage Summary Reports" on page 89 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 79 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_NWReg\_DSP\_Codec\_Sum
- 4. Click DSP\_Usage\_and\_Summary. This opens the DSP Usage and Summary page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Processor Occupancy reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Load Statistics Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT PN Load Stats extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the port network load statistics on your network region. You can generate the reports based on the following types of load statistics:

- Incoming Trunk Load
- Intercom Load
- Outgoing Trunk Load
- Tandem Trunk Load
- Total Load

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Load Statistics Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Load Statistics reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Avaya reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enabling Port Network Load Report section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT PN Load Stats extension pack.

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours

- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the port network load statistics metric reports based on the various combinations of the port network load statistics attribute values available in the accumulated port network load statistics metric data .You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

on, 🖵🖾 🖾 and then select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon in the select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl-key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select

icon 🗆 🗃 🗮 😨

• If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 💷 🗃 🖾 . This displays the following options:

 Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.

- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that uses the port network.
Port Network Number	The port network number configured on the Communication Manager server.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group that is associated with the Communications Manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats > Incoming\_Trunk\_Load to view a list of the supported summary report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Intra PN Usage) as the primary metric and the Intra PN Peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the Incoming Trunk Load metrics or the Incoming Trunk Load attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN Usage	The Intra PN usage in centum call seconds for the port network for the incoming trunk load.
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN peg	The Intra PN peg for the port network for the incoming trunk load
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Usage	The incoming usage for the port network for the incoming trunk load
<sup>1</sup> Incoming peg	The incoming peg for the port network for the incoming trunk load
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing Usage	The outgoing usage for the port network for the incoming trunk load.
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing peg	The outgoing peg for the port network for the incoming trunk load.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected incoming trunk load metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected incoming trunk load metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 101 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the incoming trunk load attributes and the incoming trunk load metric, this report ranks the incoming trunk load attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the incoming trunk load metric. This report includes all the incoming trunk load instances that had a variation for the specified incoming trunk load attribute. The report displays the rank of the incoming trunk load attribute value along with the incoming trunk load metric value and the percentage of the incoming trunk load metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the DSP usage attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the DSP usage attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the incoming trunk load metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of incoming trunk load attributes and ranks these groups of incoming trunk load attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the incoming trunk load metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select an incoming trunk load metric, specify the incoming trunk load attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain incoming trunk load attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 incoming trunk load instances based on the **Intra PN Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of incoming trunk load instances on your network. You can select the number of incoming trunk loads you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two incoming trunk load metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Incoming Trunk Load Reports" on page 100 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following

**message**: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 101 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- 4. Click **Incoming\_Trunk\_Load**. This opens the Incoming Trunk Load page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart

- Chart Detail
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya Incoming Trunk Load reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats > Intercom\_Load to view a list of the supported intercom load report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Intra PN Usage) as the primary metric and the Intra PN peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics
## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN Usage	The Intra PN usage in centum call seconds for the port network for the intercom load.
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN peg	The Intra PN peg for the port network for the intercom load
<sup>1</sup> Iner PN Usage	The Intra PN usage in centum call seconds for the port network for the intercom load.
<sup>1</sup> Inter PN peg	The Intra PN peg for the port network for the intercom load

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected intercom load metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on previous page to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two intercom load metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected intercom load metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified

time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 109 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the intercom load attributes and the intercom load metric, this report ranks the intercom load attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the intercom load metric. This report includes all the intercom load instances that had a variation for the specified intercom load attribute. The report displays the rank of the intercom load attribute value along with the intercom load metric value and the percentage of the intercom load metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the intercom load attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the intercom load attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list. Note: You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon . Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon .
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.

- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top

N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.

8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 intercom load instances based on the **Intra PN Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of intercom load instances on your network. You can select the number of intercom load instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the intercom load metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of intercom load attributes and ranks these groups of intercom load attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the intercom load metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a intercom load metric, specify the intercom load attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain intercom load attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>2</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the intercom load attributes. You can remove the additional

intercom load attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Intercom Load Reports" on page 108 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.

- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- 4. Click Intercom\_Load. This opens the Intercom Load page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Intercom Load reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report

12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Outgoing Trunk Load reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load-Stats > Outgoing\_Trunk\_Load to view a list of the supported DSP usage summary report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Intra PN Usage) as the primary metric and the Intra PN peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN Usage	The Intra PN usage in centum call seconds for the port network for the outgoing trunk load.
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN peg	The Intra PN peg for the port network for the outgoing trunk load
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Usage	The incoming usage for the port network for the outgoing trunk load

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Incoming peg	The incoming peg for the port network for the outgoing trunk load
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing Usage	The outgoing usage for the port network for the outgoing trunk load.
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing peg	The outgoing peg for the port network for the outgoing trunk load.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected outgoing trunk load metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on previous page to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 116 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected outgoing trunk load metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 116 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Report

Based on your selection of the outgoing trunk load attributes and the outgoing trunk load metric, this report ranks the outgoing trunk load attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the outgoing trunk load metric. This report includes all the outgoing trunk load

instances that had a variation for the specified outgoing trunk load attribute. The report displays the rank of the outgoing trunk load attribute value along with the outgoing trunk load metric value and the percentage of the outgoing trunk load metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the outgoing trunk load attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the outgoing trunk load attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
   Note: You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>.

Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the outgoing trunk load metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of outgoing trunk load attributes and ranks these groups of outgoing trunk load attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the outgoing trunk load metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a outgoing trunk load metric, specify the outgoing trunk load attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain outgoing trunk load attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple outgoing trunk load attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the outgoing trunk load attributes. You can remove the additional outgoing trunk load attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the

#### Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two outgoing trunk load metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 116 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 outgoing trunk load instances based on the **Intra PN Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of outgoing trunk load instances on your network. You can select the number of outgoing trunk load instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya Outgoing Trunk Load Reports" on page 116 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- 4. Click **Outgoing\_Trunk\_Load**. This opens the Outgoing Trunk Load page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
  - Peak Period
  - Chart Detail
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Outgoing Trunk Load reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.

- Day of the Week: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats > Tandem\_Load to view a list of the supported tandem load report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Intra PN Usage) as the primary metric and the Intra PN peg as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN Usage	The Intra PN usage in centum call seconds for the port network for the tandem load.
<sup>1</sup> Intra PN peg	The Intra PN peg for the port network for the tandem load
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Usage	The incoming usage for the port network for the tandem load
<sup>1</sup> Incoming peg	The incoming peg for the port network for the tandem load
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing Usage	The outgoing usage for the port network for the tandem load.
<sup>1</sup> Outgoing peg	The outgoing peg for the port network for the tandem load.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected tandem load metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 124 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected tandem load metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 124 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection of the tandem load attributes and the tandem load metric, this report ranks the tandem load attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the tandem load metric. This report includes all the tandem load instances that had a variation for the specified tandem load attribute. The report displays the rank of the tandem load attribute value along with the tandem load metric value and the percentage of the tandem load metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the tandem load attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the tandem load attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the tandem load metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of tandem load attributes and ranks these groups of tandem load attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the tandem load metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a tandem load metric, specify the tandem load attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain tandem load attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple tandem load attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup> Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the tandem load attributes. You can remove the additional tandem load attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** 

icon 🔀

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two tandem load metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to be applied on the report.

- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 124 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 tandem load instances based on the **Intra PN Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of tandem load instances on your network. You can select the number of tandem load instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Tandem Load Reports" on page 124 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- 4. Click **Tandem\_Load**. This opens the Tandem Load page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
  - Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony tandem load reports.

- Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats > Total\_Load to view a list of the supported total load report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (TDM Occupancy) as the primary metric and the PN Occupancy as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> TDM Occupancy (%)	The Time Divisioned Multiplex (TDM) occupancy for the port network.
<sup>1</sup> PN Occupancy (%)	The Port Network Occupancy.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected total load metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on previous page to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.

- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 132 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected total load metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 132 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the total load attributes and the total load metric, this report ranks the total load attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the total load metric. This report includes all the total load instances that had a variation for the specified total load attribute. The report displays the rank of the total load attribute value along with the total load metric value and the percentage of the total load metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the total load attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this

report to investigate historical sampled data for the total load attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the total load metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of total load attributes and ranks these groups of total load attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the total load metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a total load metric, specify the total load attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain total load attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple total load attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the total load attributes. You can remove the

additional total load attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon 🔀.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two total load metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 99to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 132 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 total load instances based on the **TDM Occupancy (%)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of total load instances on your network. You can select the number of total load instances you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Total Load Reports" on page 132 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 98 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- Click BI Server > Public Folders from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_PN\_Load\_Stats
- 4. Click **Total\_Load**. This opens the Total Load page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
  - Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Port Network Total Load reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the total load that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Call Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT TG Calls extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the call metrics based on the attributes such as the Direction, ICT Name, and so on. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. You can use this extension pack for long term capacity planning.

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya Trunk Calls Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya Trunk Calls reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics in your deployment environment.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from the Avaya Communications Manager. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Avaya section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT TG Calls extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the **Avaya IP Telephony** > **Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_Calls** > **Trunk\_Calls** to view a list of the supported Avaya trunk call report formats.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (**Period Length (secs) (sum)**) as the primary metric and the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Communications Manager IP Address, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, icon, icon a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select
   is an E E E
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🔚 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that handled the call.
Trunk Group	The trunk group used to carry the call.
Trunk Group Access Code	The Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) of the

Attribute	Description
	outbound trunk group used by the communication manager that handled the outbound routing of the call.
Signaling Group	The signaling group used for the call.
Direction	The direction of the call. This can be one of the following:
	Inbound
	Outbound

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Call Duration (secs) (avg)	The call duration in seconds.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs) (avg)	The average duration of the calls in seconds.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum

Chapter 1:

Metric	Description
	options for this metric to generate reports.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Calendar
- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- Most Changed

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 141to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 141to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 143 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Top N Report

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the communication managers in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Communications Manager IP Address** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Communications Manager IP Address call attribute. You

can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 2. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 141to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 143 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Period Length (secs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Calls Reports" on page 140 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 141 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_Calls
- 4. Click **Trunk\_Calls**. This opens the Trunk\_Calls page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.

- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern and Trunk Group Usage Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT TG RP Usage extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the trunk group and route pattern usage based on the usage attributes and usage quality metrics.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. This helps you in long-term capacity planning.

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya CDR Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony CDR reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable route pattern usage reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enabling Route Pattern Usage Reporting section for additional information.
- Enable trunk group usage reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enabling Trunk Group Usage Reporting section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT TG RP Usage extension pack.

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you

can specify the **Start Date**, **Time** (start time), the **End Date**, **Time**(end time), and the **Interval** to be used to generate the reports.

- Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
  - 1 Minute 5 Minutes
  - 15 Minutes
  - 30 Minutes
  - ∘ 1 Hour
  - 2 Hours
  - 12 Hours
  - 24 Hours
  - 7 Days
  - 31 Days
  - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the **Avaya IP Telephony** > **Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_RP\_Usage** > **Route\_Pattern\_Usage** to view a list of the supported Avaya route pattern usage report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Calls Offered) as the primary metric and the Calls Blocked as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the route pattern usage metric reports based on the various combinations of the route pattern usage attribute values available in the accumulated route pattern usage metric data. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the **Single value select**

icon, 💴 🔠 🖾 and then select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select



• If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 💷 🖼 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.

4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that includes the route pattern.
Route Pattern Number	The route pattern number used during the selected time period.
TG Number for Trunk Group <number></number>	The <number> indicates the position or priority of the trunk group within the list of trunk group choices for a route pattern.</number>
Custom Info for Trunk Group <number></number>	The custom information configured for the trunk group. at the position indicated by the position number. For example, this can be one of the following:
	• LEC
	• LD
	• 911
	<b>Note:</b> Make sure that you edit the topology detail form view for the trunk group to include meaningful custom information. This allows you to filter the reports based on the custom information easily.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the Communication Manager that includes the route pattern.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Calls Offered	Indicates the total calls offered by the route pattern over the specified time period.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Carried	Indicates the total calls carried by the route pattern over the specified time period.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Blocked	Indicates the total calls blocked by the route pattern over the specified time period.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Queue Overflow	Indicates the calls queue overflow for the route pattern over the specified time period.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Queued	Indicates the total calls queued by the route pattern over the specified time period.
<sup>1</sup> Percentage of Total RP Calls carried By Trunk Group <number></number>	Indicates the percentage of total route pattern calls carried by the trunk group number at the position indicated by the position within the route pattern.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

- Peak Usage
- P.01 Grade of Service Summary

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 153to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 154 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. To change the metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 163to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 166 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **M**.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click Options from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 153to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 154 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 route pattern usage instances based on the **Calls Carried** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of route pattern instances on your network. You can select the number of trunk activities you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Route Pattern Usage Reports" on page 152 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Peak Usage Report

This report lets you analyze the Avaya Route Pattern usage and determine the peak periods of calls offered to the Route Patterns. The report lists the data in a tabular output for the Peak Hour or Day or Week for the Route Patterns along with the split of peak period calls carried percentage among the various positional Trunk Groups referenced by Route Pattern.

You can select the Peak Period (Hour or Day or Week) to be identified by selecting in the drop down inside Report Options. You can also use the appropriate filters from the filters to restrict the set of Route Patterns for which the report runs.

The report uses hourly aggregated Avaya Trunk Group Usage and Route Pattern usage information stored in NPS under Avaya IP Telephony Route Patterns and Trunk Group usage reporting package.

### P.01 GoS Summary Report

This report lets you analyze the Avaya Route Pattern usage and call routing capacity planning by generating the usage summary for a selected set of Avaya Route Patterns. This report is applicable only for the Route Patterns that reference channelized interfaces such as T1/E1. In a tabular display, for each route pattern, the report, displays the detailed summary for each Trunk Group referenced by the Route Pattern as well as for the whole set of Trunk Groups referenced by the route pattern. The detailed Trunk Group by Trunk Group summary for each Route Pattern and the summary for the set of Trunk Groups referenced by the Route pattern is similar to the result of analysis done in the Trunk Group P.01 GoS Summary report. For more information on Trunk Group P.01 GoS Summary reports, see "P.01 Grade of Service Summary Report" on page 173

In the detailed Trunk group by Trunk Group summary table located in the P.01 GoS Summary column in the table of Route Patterns, the rows are sorted by the priority or selection order of the Trunk Group within the Route Pattern. However, you can select different sorting criteria to sort the rows by choosing the right sort options in the Report Options.

In each row of the Route Pattern summary in the outer table, the report also displays the percentage of total Route Pattern calls carried through the positional Trunk Group in the Route Pattern.

The report uses hourly aggregated Avaya Trunk Group Usage and Route Pattern usage information stored in NPS under the Avaya IP Telephony Route Patterns and Trunk Group usage reporting package.

### **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_RP\_Usage
- 4. Click **Route\_Pattern\_Usage**. This opens the Route\_Pattern\_Usage page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports.
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony route pattern usage reports.

- Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

## Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_RP\_Usage > Trunk\_Group\_Usage to view a list of the supported Avaya trunk group usage report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Usage) as the primary metric and the Inbound Calls Carried as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the trunk group usage metric reports based on the various combinations of the trunk group usage attribute values available in the accumulated trunk group usage metric data. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.

- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select



- and then select a value of your choice.
- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl- key.
- - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 💷 🖼 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that includes the trunk group.

Attribute	Description
Trunk Group Number	The trunk group number for the trunk group used during the selected time period. The <number> indicates the position or priority of the trunk group within the list of trunk group choices for a route pattern.</number>
Trunk Group Type	The type of IP Trunk implemented using a trunk group. The valid values are as follows:
	• H323
	• SIP
	If the trunk group does not implement an IP trunk, this attribute displays the value Not_ Applicable.
Trunk Group Direction	The trunk group direction for the calls. This can be one of the following:
	Inbound
	Outbound
Trunk Group Access Code	The Trunk Group access code used by the communication manager that handled the call.
Number of Trunk Group Members	The number of trunk group members in the selected trunk group.
Queue Size	The call queue size for the trunk group.
IP Trunk Type	Indicates the IP trunk type implemented using a trunk group. The valid values for the IP trunk type can be H323 or SIP. If the trunk group does not implement an IP trunk, then the value is displayed as Not_Applicable.
Custom Info	The custom information configured for the trunk group. at the position indicated by the position number. For example, this can be one of the following:
	• LEC
	• LD
	• 911
	<b>Note:</b> Make sure that you edit the topology detail form view for the trunk group to include meaningful custom information. This allows you to filter the reports based on the custom information easily.

Attribute	Description
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the communications manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the trunk group usage metrics or the trunk group usage attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Usage	The usage time of the trunk group in centum call seconds.
<sup>1</sup> Inbound Calls Carried	The inbound calls carried by the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Outbound Calls Carried	The outbound calls carried by the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Offered	The calls offered by the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Outbound Calls Blocked in Percentage	The percentage of the outbound calls blocked by the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Times ATB in Percentage	The percentage of the All Trunks Busy time.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Group Overflow Calls	The group overflow calls for the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Queue Overflow Calls	The overflow calls in queue for the trunk group.
<sup>1</sup> Queue Abandoned Calls	The abandoned calls in queue for the trunk group.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- P.01 GoS Summary

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected trunk group usage metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 163to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 166 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - **Chart**: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. To change the metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 163to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 166 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the trunk group usage metric, this report ranks the trunk group usage attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the trunk group usage metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified trunk group usage attribute. The report displays the rank of the trunk group usage attribute value

along with the trunk group usage metric value and the percentage of the trunk group usage metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the trunk group usage attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the trunk group usage metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of trunk group usage attributes and ranks these groups of trunk group usage attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the trunk group usage metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a trunk group usage metric, specify the trunk group usage attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional trunk group

usage attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the call metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two trunk group usage metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month. You can select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list to see the call data for the past 70 days, based on the duration for which the iSPI for IP Telephony has been processing the trunk group usage data and sharing this data with the NPS.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 163to be applied on the report.

- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 166 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Peak Period Report**

This report by default, displays the top 10 trunk group usage instances based on the **Usage** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of in-service trunks on your network. You can select the number of trunk activities you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Group Usage Reports" on page 163 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 151 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## P.01 Grade of Service Summary Report

This report lets you do Avaya Trunk Set usage and call routing capacity planning by generating the usage summary for a selected set of Avaya Trunk Sets. This report is applicable only for the Trunk Sets that reference channelized interfaces such as T1/E1 PRIs. The referenced channels are also known as Trunk Set Members. This report captures a summary of usage for any such selected set of Trunk Sets along with summary of usage for each Trunk Set in the set.

The final result for the set and each Trunk Group in the set also includes an indicator for the Grade of Service for the set as well as each Trunk Group in the set. This indicator is expressed as a percentage of the P.01 Grade Of Service for the number of channels in the set of Trunk Groups for the set. The compliance indicator is reported for each Trunk Group in the selected set as well.

The P.01 Grade of Service indicates, for a given number of channels in a logical bundle, the Busy Hour Traffic (BHT) that the set representing the logical bundle can sustain with a 0.01% blockage.

The report uses hourly aggregated Avaya Trunk Group Usage information stored in NPS under Avaya IP Telephony Route Patterns and Trunk Group usage reporting package to arrive at the conclusions.

For each Trunk Group in the set, the report first determines the, Total Usage, Total Calls, busiest hour calls offered to the Trunk Group and the Average Usage per call. The Busiest Hour Traffic (BHT) is than determined by multiplying Busiest Hour Calls offered and Average Usage per Call. The BHT determined is compared against the P.01 GoS BHT for the number of channels/trunk-members in the Trunk Group and the comparison is expressed as a percentage and indicates the compliance to P.01 GoS Standards.

The report performs similar calculations for the set as a set of Trunk Groups is a larger logical bundle of set of channels/trunk-members. The Total Usage, Total Calls, busiest hour calls offered to the set and the Average Usage per call is determined for the complete set of Trunk Groups in the

set. The busiest hour calls offered to the set and the Average Usage for a call are for the set. This is not the sum of the same parameters across the Trunk Groups in the set. The Busiest Hour Traffic (BHT) is than determined by multiplying Busiest Hour Calls offered and Average Usage per Call. The BHT is compared against the P.01 GoS BHT for the total number of channels/trunk-members in the set and the comparison is expressed as a percentage and indicates the compliance to P.01 GoS Standards. The total number of channels in a set is the sum of number channels/trunk-members for all the Trunk Groups in the set.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_TG\_RP\_Usage
- 4. Click Trunk\_Group\_Usage. This opens the Trunk\_Group\_Usage page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Top N Chart
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony trunk Group Usage reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.

- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya IPT Trunk Activity extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the trunk activity on your network. You can generate reports based on the trunk activity attributes such as the trunk group name, the trunk group number, and so on, and the trunk group quality metrics such as the number of in-service trunks, the number of active trunks, and so on. See the section Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Avaya reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Avaya Reporting > Enabling Trunk Activity Reports section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya IPT Trunk Activity extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_IPT\_Trunk\_Activity > Trunk\_Activity to view a list of the supported Avaya trunk activity report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Number of In-Service Trunks) as the primary metric and the Number of Active Trunks as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours

- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- Time Zone: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the Relative Start option. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 4. Click Submit to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the trunk activity attribute values available in the accumulated trunk activity metric data. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, Barrier and then select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon in then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl- key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select



- If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
  - Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 🖾 . This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
    provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want
    and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report
    uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.

 Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the trunk activity.

Attribute	Description
Communications Manager IP Address	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that includes the trunk group.
Trunk Group Name	The name of the trunk group for which you want to filter the trunk activity to generate reports.
Trunk Group Number	The trunk group number for which you want to filter the trunk group activity.
Number of Trunk Members	The number of trunk group members in the selected trunk group.
SGUUID	The security group associated with the Communication Manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Number of In-Service Trunks	The number of In-service trunks.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Active Trunks	The number of active trunks
<sup>1</sup> Number of Out Service Trunks	The number of out-of-service trunks.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Calendar
- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Most Changed
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 177to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 178 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 177to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 178 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the trunk activity attributes and the trunk activity metric, this report ranks the trunk activity attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values
of the trunk activity metric. This report includes all the trunk activities that had a variation for the specified attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest m metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest m metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of trunk activity attributes and ranks these groups of trunk activity attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the trunk activity metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a trunk activity metric, specify the trunk activity attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain trunk activity attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two trunk activity metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 177to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 178 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 trunk activities based on the **Number of In-Service Trunks** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of in-service trunks on your network. You can select the number of trunk activities you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony Trunk Activity Reports" on page 176 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 176 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_IPT\_Trunk\_Activity
- 4. Click **Trunk\_Activity**. This opens the Trunk\_Activity page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports.
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.

- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Avaya RTP Session Metrics extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the Real-time Transport Protocol (RTP) sessions on your IP telephoy network. You can generate reports based on the RTP session attributes such as CName (Canonical Name), the peer CName, and so on, and the RTP session quality metrics such as the session duration, the average MOS, and so on. See the sections *Call Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

The extension pack retains the detailed data and the summary data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 32 days.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- Recent Sessions

# Prerequisites to Enable Avaya RTP Session Metrics Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Avaya RTP session metrics reporting:

• Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.

- Configure the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from the Avaya Communications Manager. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Avaya > Configuring RTCP: Reception section for additional information.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Avaya RTP Session Metrics extension pack.

# Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports

To access the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click the Avaya IP Telephony > Avaya\_RTP\_Session\_Metrics > Participant\_Reception\_ Metrics to view a list of the supported RTP session metrics report formats.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Session Duration) as the primary metric and the Avg. MOS as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes

- 1 Hour
- 2 Hours
- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the RTP session metric reports based on the various combinations of the RTP session attribute values available in the accumulated RTP session metric data. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, where the select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select



• If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🚟 🖾 This displays the following options:

• **Keywords**: selecting the **Keywords** check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available

options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the **Case insensitive** check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.

- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want
  and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report
  uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the RTP sessions.

Attribute	Description
Communication Manager IP Address	The IP address of the communication manager on which the RTP end point with the RTP CNAME is either configured as a station for IP phones or is the IP address of the communication manager which uses the RTP end point for H248 media gateways or MedPros with CNAME being the CNAME in the report fir establishing the call.
CNAME	The IP address of the Communication Manager server that handled the call.
Peer CNAME	The access code dialed for calls outbound from the communication manager that handled the calls.
SGUUID	The Trunk Group Access Code (TAC) of the outbound trunk group used by the communication manager that handled the outbound routing of the call.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the RTP session attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the RTP session metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a RTP session, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the RTP session.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific RTP session attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Metric	Description
Session Duration	The duration of the RTP session.
Avg. MOS	The average MOS for the RTP sessions during the time frame specified.
Avg. Jitter	The average jitter for the RTP sessions during the time frame specified.
Avg. Delay	The average delay for the RTP sessions during the time frame specified.
Avg. Packet Loss	The average packet loss for the RTP sessions during the time frame specified.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Do not select the average measure of these metrics to generate a report. You can select the miimum and maximum measures of these metrics. To use the average measure, select the following metrics:

- Duration (secs) (avg)
- Average Delay (millis) (avg)
- Average Jitter (millis) (avg)

- Average MOS (avg)
- Average Packet Loss Rate (avg)

# Types of Reports

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- Recent Sessions

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected RTP session metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 188to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected RTP session metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. By default, the Heat Chart report displays the data for all RTP sessions from the last 31 days, for all days of the week, for all hours of the day with no topology filter selected. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 188to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 190 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection of the RTP session attributes and the RTP session metric, this report ranks the RTP session attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the RTP session metric. This report includes all the RTP sessions that had a variation for the specified RTP session attribute. The report displays the rank of the RTP session attribute value along with the RTP session metric value and the percentage of the RTP session metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the RTP session attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the RTP session attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the RTP sessions.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.

- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the RTP session metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of RTP session attributes and ranks these groups of RTP session attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the RTP session metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select an RTP session metric, specify the RTP session attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain RTP session attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>11</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two RTP session metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 188to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 190 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 RTP sessions based on the **Session Duration (secs)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of

RTP sessions on your network. You can select the number of RTP sessions you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Recent Sessions Report**

This report by default, displays the recent two RTP sessions on the network. You can select the number of RTP sessions you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Avaya IP Telephony RTP Session Metrics Reports" on page 187 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 187 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Avaya IP Telephony.
- 3. Click Avaya\_RTP\_Session\_Metrics
- 4. Click Participant\_Reception\_Metrics. This opens the Participant Reception Metrics page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Top N Chart
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.

- Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Avaya IP Telephony Processor Occupancy reports.
- Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Chapter 2

# **Cisco IP Telephony Reports**

The Network Node Manager iSPI for IP Telephony Software provides you with the following extension packs to view and analyze the performance data of the Cisco IP telephony environment:

- Cisco\_IPT\_Calls\_By\_Details
- Cisco\_IPT\_Calls\_By\_GWs
- Cisco\_IPT\_Calls\_By\_IP\_Trunks
- Cisco\_IPT\_Calls\_Terminations\_Type
- Cisco\_IPT\_GW\_BChannel\_Activity
- Cisco\_IPT\_GW\_Call\_Activity
- Cisco\_IPT\_Media\_Resources
- Cisco\_IPT\_IPT\_TFTP
- Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_Call\_Activity
- Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_System\_Health
- Cisco\_IPT\_UCOS\_Services
- Cisco\_IPT\_VM\_Systems

# **Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IP Telephony CDR extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the call count (Sample Count), the call duration, and the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, the number of packets lost, the MOS listening quality K-factor, and so on) for the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters deployed on your network. See the sections *Call Metric* and *Call Quality Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

You can use this extension pack to report on the multiple dimensions (attributes) of a call. The extension pack retains the data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a short period of time (32 days). You can use the data for short-term operational reporting and run the reports once a month. You can use the reports for further analysis using custom tools.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the of the calls, such as the ID of the cluster that handled the call, the name of the call manager that handled the call, the calling party number, the called party number, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure. You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Managed Inventory
- Recent Calls
- Peak Period

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco CDR Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco IP Telephony CDR reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics in your deployment environment.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from each Cisco Unified Communication Manager cluster in your network. for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- 3. Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable collection of Cisco AXL API exposed configuration data from each of the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters in your network for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- Enable Cisco CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Cisco CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IP Telephony CDR extension pack.

## Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports

### To access the Cisco IP Telephony CDR reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.

- 3. Click the **Cisco IP Telephony > Call Details > Duration Volume By Details** or the **Hourly Usage Volume By Details** option to view a list of the supported Cisco CDR Report formats.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNM iSPI Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.

- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

## Specifying the Hour of the Day and the Day of the Week

You can specify the hour of the day and the day of the week for which you want to generate the report from the **Hour / Day Filters** workspace on the left panel of the NNM iSPI Performance page. You can select the required hours and the required days from the appropriate boxes and click **Submit**. You can select multiple values by pressing the Shift key or the Control (Ctrl) key.

The iSPI for IP Telephony marks the call metric data with a universal time stamp known as *seconds since epoch*, which directly reflects the Universal timestamp (in *seconds since epoch*) on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager server that logged the call. The Network Performance Server (NPS) converts this timestamp into the local time as defined by the location of the NPS. If the Cisco Unified Communications Manager server that logged the call is in a different time zone when compared to the time zone of the NPS or the iSPI for IP Telephony, the NPS data will not be in synchronization with the local time of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager server.

Note that when you generate the reports, the NPS converts the time the call was handled by the Cisco Unified Communications Manager server to the local time on the NPS. The reports display this converted time and not the time the call was handled by the Cisco Unified Communications Manager server.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the call metric reports based on the various combinations of the call attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Call Manager Name, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

     Image: Im

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon
 Image: A select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control Ctrl key).

• If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🗔 🖾 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
  click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
  the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	The unique identifier or name of the cluster that handled the call.
Call Manager Name	The name of the call manager that handled the call.
Call Manager IP Address	The IP address of the call manager that handled the call.
Calling Party Number	The number of the party from where the call originated.
Called Party Number	The number of the party to which the call was made.
Outbound Gateway IP Address	The IP address of the gateway through which the call was routed by that cluster that handled the call.
Inbound Gateway IP Address	The IP address of the gateway through which the call reached the cluster that handled the call.

Chapter	2:
---------	----

Attribute	Description
Outbound Gateway Name	The name of the Voice Gateway through which the call was routed out of the Cluster that handled the call. This can be the name of the Voice Gateway Endpoint (configured on the Call Manager) or the name of the interface in case of an MGCP or SCCP.
Inbound Gateway Name	The name of the Voice Gateway through which the call reached the Cluster that handled the call. This can be the name of the Voice Gateway Endpoint (configured on the Call Manager) or the name of the interface in case of an MGCP or SCCP.
Outbound ICT Remote Cluster ID	The ID of the remote cluster to which the call was routed by the Cluster that handled the call.
Inbound ICT Remote Cluster ID	The ID of the remote cluster from which the call reached the Cluster that handled the call.
Outbound ICT Name	The name of the Inter Cluster Trunk through which the call was routed out of the Cluster that handled the call.
Inbound ICT Name	The name of the Inter Cluster Trunk through which the call reached the Cluster that handled the call.
Terminating Party	The party that terminated the call. You can select any of the following options to filter the information:
	Destination Party
	Originating Party

Chapter 2:

Attribute	Description
Termination Reason	The reason for termination of the call. You can select the following option to filter the information: Normal Call Clearing
Call Classification	Classifies the call being reported based on the Cluster that handled the call. Possible values are as follows:
	Inbound Gateway
	Outbound Gateway
	Originating and Terminating via Gateway
	Inbound Inter Cluster IP Trunk
	Inbound Inter-Cluster IP Trunk-Outbound Gateway
	Outbound Inter-Cluster IP Trunk
	Inbound Gateway-Outbound Inter-Cluster IP Trunk
	Originating and Terminating via Inter-Cluster IP Trunk
	Intra-Cluster IP to IP Call
Calling Party Location	Specifies the location of the party from where the call originated.
Calling Party Site Code	Specifies the site code configured for the party from where the call originated.
Calling Party Mail-Code	Specifies the mail code configured for the party from where the call originated.
Called Party Location	Specifies location of the party to which the call was made.
Called Party Site Code	Specifies site code configured for the party to which the call was made.
Called Party Mail-Code	Specifies mail code configured

Attribute	Description
	for the party to which the call was made.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the Call Manager.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

You must specify meaningful values for the Location, Site Code, and the Mail-Code attributes for the calling party and the called party if you want to filter the report based on these attributes. You can use the Topology Details Form view to make these changes. The iSPI for IP Telephony does not populate these fields during the automatic discovery.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to view reports based on the call detail records collected and processed by the iSPI for IP Telephony. You can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager IP Address, the inbound gateway name, the inbound gateway IP address, and so on ) that were involved in the call.

You can also view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress.

The extension pack provides the reports in the following folders:

- Duration Volume By Details
- Hourly Usage Volume By Details

## **Duration Volume Reports**

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony

entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager IP Address, the inbound gateway name, the inbound gateway IP address, and so on ) that were involved in the call. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Recent Calls
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the call metrics, the call quality metrics, and the distinct count of call attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs)	The duration of the call in seconds.
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
Quality Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Originating Leg	The jitter in the originating leg.for the call in milliseconds.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Originating Leg	The latency in the originating leg.for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Originating Leg	The number of packets lost in the originating leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Destination Leg	The jitter in the destination leg for the call.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Destination Leg	The latency in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Destination Leg	The number of packets lost in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Destination Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Originating Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the originating leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Min in Destination Leg	The minumum K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Min in Originating Leg	The minimum K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the originating leg for the call.

<sup>1</sup>Do not select the average measure of these metrics to generate a report. You can select the miimum and maximum measures of these metrics. To use the average measure, select the following metrics:

- Call Duration (secs) (avg)
- Jitter in Dest Leg (millis) (avg)
- Jitter in Orig Leg (millis) (avg)
- Latency in Dest Leg (millis) (avg)
- Latency in Orig Leg (millis) (avg)
- MOS LQ K-Factor Average in Dest Leg (avg)
- MOS LQ K-Factor Average in Orig Leg (avg)
- MOS LQ K-Factor Minimum in Dest Leg (avg)
- MOS LQ K-Factor Minimum in Orig Leg (avg)
- Packets Lost in Dest Leg (avg)
- Packets Lost in Orig Leg (avg)
- Packet Loss Pct in Dest Leg (avg)
- Packet Loss Pct in Orig Leg (avg)

You must specify meaningful values for the Location, Site Code, and the Mail-Code attributes for the calling party and the called party if you want to filter the report based on these attributes. You can use the Topology Details Form view to make these changes. The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony does not populate these fields during the automatic discovery.

## Chart Detail Report

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Call Duration (avg)** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the trend for the Hourly Call Attempts (HCA) and the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) along with the average duration for every hour.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 207 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. By default, the Heat Chart report displays the data for all calls from the last 31 days, for all days of the week, for all hours of the day, the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** as the call metric, and with no topology filter selected. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

For example, if you want to identify the hour of the month, week, or day when the number of call attempts were the highest, you can select the **Sample Count** as the metric and set the time control

options to the default values for this report as discussed in the previous paragraph and then generate the report. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 207 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Sample Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a call metric. For example, if you select the call count (**Sample Count (sum)**) metric to generate the Heat Chart report, you can use the report to identify the following instances on your IP Telephony network:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high) such as the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) that affected the results for one day.
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- Verify that a high call volume or call duration condition returned to normal after a period of time.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Cluster ID

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **M**.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top

N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.

8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Recent Calls Report**

This report by default, displays two of the most recent calls on the network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

### To launch the Recent Calls report, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Specify the number of calls to be displayed in the report,
- 5. Select the topology filter to be applied to filter the report.
- 6. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the clusters in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Cluster** 

**ID** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Cluster ID call attribute. You can select multiple call

attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another dropdown list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute drop-down lists

displayed clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the call metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month. You can select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list to see the call data for the past 70 days, based on the duration for which the iSPI for IP Telephony has been processing the CDR data and sharing this data with the NPS.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of

less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 207 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Call Duration (secs)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

### To schedule report generation:

- Click BI Server > Public Folders from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_IPT\_CDR\_Collection
- 3. Click **CiscolPTCDRMetrics**. This opens the CiscolPTCDRMetrics page.

- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Peak Period
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

## **Hourly Usage Reports**

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the call metrics, the call quality metrics, and the distinct count of call attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Hourly Usage (Erlangs)	The hourly usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the duration of the call.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the calls in progress.

<sup>1</sup>Do not select the average measure of this metric to generate a report. You can select the miimum and maximum measures of this metric. To use the average measure, select the following metric:

#### Usage (Erlangs)

You must specify meaningful values for the Location, Site Code, and the Mail-Code attributes for the calling party and the called party if you want to filter the report based on these attributes. You can use the Topology Details Form view to make these changes. The iSPI for IP Telephony does not populate these fields during the automatic discovery.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Hourly Usage** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the number of calls in progress for the specific hour and the usage of the associated IP telephony entities during the hour.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the **Chart or Table** drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame. By default, the Heat Chart report displays the data for all calls from the last 31 days, for all days of the week and for all hours of the day.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Top N Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value

along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month. You can select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list to see the data for the past 70 days, based on the duration for which the iSPI for IP Telephony has been processing the CDR data and sharing this data with the NPS.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 202 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 217 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 hours based on the **Usage (Erlangs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony CDR Reports" on page 200 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 201 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Gateway Calls extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the cluster ID, direction, gateway name, and so on for the Cisco Gateways deployed on your network. See the sections *Call Metric* and *Call Quality Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. You can use this extension pack for capacity planning.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the of the calls, such as the ID of the cluster that handled the call, the name of the call manager that handled the call, the calling party number, the called party number, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

## Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway Calls Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco Gateway call reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS in your deployment environment.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from each Cisco Unified Communication Manager cluster in your network. for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.

- 3. Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable collection of Cisco AXL API exposed configuration data from each of the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters in your network for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- Enable Cisco CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Cisco CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco Gateway Calls extension pack.

## Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports

To access the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Gateway Calls > Gateway\_Calls** to see a list of reports you can launch for the Cisco gateway calls.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Period Length (secs) (sum)) as the primary metric and the Call Duration (secs) (avg) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.

- Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
  - 1 Minute
  - 5 Minutes
  - 15 Minutes
  - 30 Minutes
  - 1 Hour
  - 2 Hours
  - 12 Hours
  - 24 Hours
  - 7 Days
  - 31 Days
  - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

## **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Call Manager Name, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

- If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
  - Search and Select icon 🛄 🖼 🖾 . This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
    provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
    click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
    the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
  - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Gateway Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	The unique identifier or name of the cluster that handled the call.
Call Manager Name	The name of the call manager that handled the call.
Gateway Name	The name of the Voice Gateway through which the call was routed out of the Cluster that handled the call. This can be the name of the Voice Gateway Endpoint (configured on the Call Manager) or the name of the interface in case of an MGCP or SCCP.
Custom Info	The custom information configured for the gateway. This can be as follows:

Gateway Attribute	Description
	• LD
	• LEC
	• 911
Number of B-Channels	The number of B-channels included in the gateway.
Direction	The direction of the call. This signifies if the call is inbound or outbound.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to view reports based on the call detail records collected and processed by the iSPI for IP Telephony. You can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the gateway name, the number of B-Channels, and so on ) that were involved in the call.

You can also view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress.

The extension pack provides the reports in the following folders:

- Duration Volume By Details
- Hourly Usage Volume By Details

## **Duration Volume Reports**

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager IP Address, the gateway name, the number of B-Channels, and so on ) that were involved in the call. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period
- Blocked Calls Percentage
- P.01 GoS Summary

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the call metrics, the call quality metrics, and the distinct count of call attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Call Duration	The call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sample count of the hourly data records stored in the Network Performance Server (NPS).
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Originating Leg	The jitter in the originating leg.for the call in milliseconds.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Originating Leg	The latency in the originating leg.for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Originating Leg	The number of packets lost in the originating leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Destination Leg	The jitter in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Destination Leg	The latency in the destination leg for the call.

Chapter 2:

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Destination Leg	The number of packets lost in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Destination Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Originating Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the originating leg for the call.
Duration (secs)	The duration of the call in seconds.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum options for this metric to generate reports.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the cluster ID that handled the call.
Call Manager Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Call Manager Name that handled the call.
Gateway Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Name that handled the call.
Custom Info (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Custom Info configured for the gateway.
Number of B-Channels (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the number of B-channels included in the gateway.
Direction (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the direction of the call.
SGUUID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the UUID of the security group associated with the gateway.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the attributes. For example, if you select the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) metric, and three

distinct calling parties had made during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) as 3.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Call Duration (avg)** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the trend for the Hourly Call Attempts (HCA) and the Busy Hour Call Attempts (BHCA) along with the average duration for every hour.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 228 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Chart Detail Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 228 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the that had a variation for the specified attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall volume variation for all the clusters in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Cluster ID** attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Cluster ID attribute. You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🔁. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of

the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-down lists displayed clicking the

### Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 228 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Blocked Calls Percentage Report**

This report lets you do gateway usage and call routing capacity planning by generating the estimates for the Blocked Calls Percentages for each gateway during the Busiest Hour or Busiest Day. This report is applicable only for the Gateway devices that are channelized such as T1/E1 PRIs.

The report uses hourly aggregated Cisco CDR reported call information stored in NPS under Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls reporting packages.

For each gateway device in the set, the report first determines the Busiest Hour Calls carried, the busiest hour and the estimated number of Calls offered during the Busiest Hour. The report determines the estimated calls offered during the busiest hour by calculating a fraction of total Calls Carried in the day of the busiest hour. The report uses the fractional multiplier 14% by default. You can configure this value before generating the report. After estimating the busiest hour calls offered, the report estimates the percentage of offered calls that was blocked in the busiest hour. This is calculated by determining the difference between the estimated calls offered and calls carried during the busiest hour.

You can do a similar analysis for estimating the blocked calls percentage during the busiest day by selecting the Day as the option in the report options. While estimating the busiest day blocked calls percentage, the report first determines the Busiest day Calls carried, the busiest day, and the estimated number of Calls offered during the Busiest day. The report calculates the estimated calls offered during the busiest day by calculating a fraction of total Calls Carried in the week of the busiest day. The report uses the fractional multiplier 14% by default. You can configure this value before generating the report. After estimating the busiest day calls offered, the report estimates the

percentage of offered calls blocked in the busiest day. This is calculated by determining the difference between the estimated calls offered and calls carried during the busiest day.

## P.01 GoS Summary Report

This report helps you do gateway usage and call routing capacity planning by generating the usage summary for a selected group of Cisco Voice gateway devices. This report is applicable only for the Gateway devices that are channelized, such as T1/E1 PRIs. This report displays a summary of the usage for any selected group as a logical bundle of channels along with the summary of the usage for each gateway device referenced by the group.

The report displays the final result for the group and each gateway in the group and also includes an indicator of the Grade of Service for the set as well as for each Gateway device in the set. This indicator indicates a percent of P.01 Grade Of Service for the number of channels in the set of Gateways for the group. the report displays the compliance indicator for each Gateway device in the selected group.

The P.01 Grade of Service indicates, for a given number of channels in a logical bundle, the Busy Hour Traffic (BHT) that the set representing the logical bundle can sustain with 0.01% blockage.

The report uses hourly aggregated Cisco CDR reported call information stored in NPS under the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls reporting package to arrive at the conclusions.

For each gateway device in the set, the report first determines the Total calls, the Average Duration for a call and the Busiest Day Calls carried by the gateway during the selected time period. The report then estimates the Busiest Hour Calls offered to the gateway by calculating a fraction of the Busiest Day Calls carried by the gateway. The report uses 14% as the fractional multiplier by default. You can configure this before generating the report. After estimating the Busiest Hour Calls offered, the report calculates the Busiest Hour Traffic (BHT) as the result of Busiest Hour Calls offered multiplied by the Average Duration for a Call. The report then compares the BHT against the P.01 GoS BHT for the number of channels in the gateway device. The report displays the comparison as a percentage and indicates the compliance of this percentage with P.01 GoS standards.

This report performs similar calculations for the gateway group and treats the set of channels as a logical bundle of channels. This time the report determines the Total Calls, the Average Duration for a call, and the Busiest Day Calls carried for the complete set of gateways in the group. The report calculates the Average Duration for a call and the Busiest Day Calls carried for the set of channels. This calculation is not a sum of the same parameters for all the gateways. The report then estimates the Busiest Hour Calls offered to the group by calculating a fraction of the Busiest Day Calls carried. The report uses 14% as the fractional multiplier by default. You can configure this before generating the report. After estimating the Busiest Hour Calls offered, the report calculates the Busiest Hour Traffic (BHT) as the result of Busiest Hour Calls offered multiplied by the Average Duration for a Call. The report then compares the BHT against the P.01 GoS BHT for the total number of channels in the group. The report displays the comparison as a percentage and indicates the compliance of this percentage with P.01 GoS standards. The total number of channels in a group is the sum of number channels for all the gateways in the group.

**Note:** You can select the option to generate the report based on the inbound calls carried, the outbound calls carried, or both from the options provided for the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Period Length (secs) (sum)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Gateway Calls
- 3. Click **Gateway\_Calls**. This opens the Gateway\_Calls page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports.
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.

- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

## Hourly Usage Reports

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the call metrics, the call quality metrics, and the distinct count of call attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Hourly Usage (Erlangs)	The hourly usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the duration of the call.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the calls in progress.
Usage (Erlangs)	The total usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the time frame specified.

Metric	Description
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the cluster ID that handled the call.
Call Manager Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Call Manager Name that handled the call.
Gateway Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Name that handled the call.
Custom Info (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Custom Info configured for the gateway.
Number of B-Channels (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the number of B-channels included in the gateway.
Direction (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the direction of the call.
SGUUID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the UUID of the security group associated with the gateway.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the attributes. For example, if you select the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct calling parties had made during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) as 3.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Hourly Usage** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the number of calls in progress for the specific hour and the usage of the associated IP telephony entities during the hour.

To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 238 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 238 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color

code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 225 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 238 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

**Note:** As this report compares the variations in the metric values for two consecutive time frames, you must not select the **Until Now** option from the **Time Range** drop-down list accessible from the **Time Controls** link for this report. Selecting the **Until Now** option results in an error and displays the following message:

This report does not operate with the current time interval. Please modify your selection.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 hours based on the **Usage (Erlangs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value

along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls Reports" on page 224 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 224 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **1**.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.

- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Cisco IP Telephony IP Trunk Calls Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT IP Trunk Calls extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the IP Trunk calls based on IP trunk call attributes such as the cluster ID, Direction, the ICT name, and so on. See the sections *Call Metric* and *Call Quality Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. You can use this extension pack for long term capacity planning.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the of the calls, such as the ID of the cluster that handled the call, the name of the call manager that handled the call, the calling party number, the called party number, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

## Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Trunk Call Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco IP Trunk call reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics in your deployment environment.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from each Cisco Unified Communication Manager cluster in your network. for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- 3. Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable collection of Cisco AXL API exposed configuration data from each of the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters in your network for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the *Online Help* for the

iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.

- Enable Cisco CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Cisco CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT IP Trunk Calls extension pack.

## Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports

To access the Cisco IP Trunk Calls reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Cisco\_IPT\_IP\_Trunk\_Calls > IP\_Trunk\_Calls** to see a list of reports you can launch for the Cisco IP trunk calls.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Call Duration (secs) (avg)) as the primary metric and the Period Length (secs) (sum) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - $\circ$  5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes

- 30 Minutes
- 1 Hour
- 2 Hours
- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon



and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon
 Image: Image:

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

# Search and Select icon 🛄 🗃 🖾 . This displays the following options:

Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.

- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
  click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
  the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	The unique identifier or name of the cluster that handled the call.
Cluster Call Manager Name	The name of the call manager that handled the call.
Remote Cluster ID	The unique ID of the remote cluster.
Remote Cluster Call Manager Name	The name of the call manager at the remote cluster.
ICT Name	The name of the Inter Cluster Trunk (ICT) that carried the call.
Direction	The direction of the call. This can be one of the following:
	• In
	Out

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to view reports based on the call detail records collected and processed by the iSPI for IP Telephony. You can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager IP Address, the ICT name, and so on ) that were involved in the call.

You can also view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress.

The extension pack provides the reports in the following folders:

- Duration Volume By Details
- Hourly Usage Volume By Details

## **Duration Volume Reports**

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager IP Address, the ICT name, and so on ) that were involved in the call. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Call Duration	The call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
Duration (secs)	The duration of the call in seconds.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum options for this metric to generate reports.
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Originating Leg	The jitter in the originating leg.for the call in milliseconds.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Originating Leg	The latency in the originating leg.for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Originating Leg	The number of packets lost in the originating leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Destination Leg	The jitter in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Destination Leg	The latency in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Destination Leg	The number of packets lost in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Destination Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Originating Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the originating leg for the call.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute.
Cluster Call Manager Name	The distinct count of the Cluster Call Manager Name, where Cluster Call Manager Name represents the name of the call attribute.
Call Manager IP Address	The distinct count of the Call Manager IP Address, where Call Manager IP Address represents the name of the call attribute.
ICT Name	The distinct count of the ICT Name, where ICT Name represents the name of the call attribute.

Metric	Description
Direction	The distinct count of the Direction, where Direction represents the name of the call attribute.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 249 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color

code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 249 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the clusters in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Cluster ID** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Cluster ID call attribute. You can select multiple call

attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another dropdown list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute drop-down lists

displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon 🔀.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 249 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco IP Telephony

- 3. Click Cisco\_IPT\_IP\_Trunk\_Calls
- 4. Click **IP\_Trunk\_Calls**. This opens the IP\_Trunk\_Calls page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Chart Detail CSV
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Top N Chart
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Hourly Usage Reports

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Hourly Usage (Erlangs)	The hourly usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the duration of the call.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the calls in progress.
Usage (Erlangs)	The total usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the time frame specified.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute.
Cluster Call Manager Name	The distinct count of the Cluster Call Manager Name, where Cluster Call Manager Name represents the name of the call attribute.
Call Manager IP Address	The distinct count of the Call Manager IP Address, where Call Manager IP Address represents the name of the call attribute.

Metric	Description
Direction	The distinct count of the Direction, where Direction represents the name of the call attribute.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Hourly Usage** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the number of calls in progress for the specific hour and the usage of the associated IP telephony entities during the hour.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the **Chart or Table** drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 258 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 247 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 258 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>21</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 hours based on the **Usage (Erlangs) (avg)** metric.. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top

N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.

8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Trunk Calls Reports" on page 246 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 246 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT Calls Termination Types extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports based on the call types and call termination reasons. You can select the Cluster ID, Call Types, and Termination Reasons for the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters deployed on your network. See the sections *Call Metric* and *Call Quality Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 400 days. You can use this extension pack for capacity planning.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the of the calls, such as the ID of the cluster that handled the call, the name of the call manager that handled the call, the calling party number, the called party number, and so on. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your IP Telephony infrastructure.

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Call Types and Termination Reasons reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony. If you have installed the iSPI for IP Telephony before installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics/NPS, make sure that you enable CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony only after installing the iSPI Performance for Metrics in your deployment environment.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable CDR data collection from each Cisco Unified Communication Manager cluster in your network. for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- Configure the iSPI for IP Telephony to enable collection of Cisco AXL API exposed configuration data from each of the Cisco Unified Communication Manager clusters in your network for which you want to view the reports on call metrics. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Configure Data Access > Configure Data Access for Cisco section for additional information.
- Enable Cisco CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Configure Cisco CDR Reporting section for additional information.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT Calls Termination Types extension pack.

# Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports

#### To access the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click **Actions** > **Reporting-Report Menu** from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Call Types and Termination Reasons > Termination\_ Reasons\_and\_Types** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Call Duration (secs) (avg)) as the primary metric and the Period Length (secs) (sum) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the call metric reports based on the various combinations of the call attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Call Manager Name, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

and then select a value of your choice.

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🔠 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
  click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
  the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	The unique identifier or name of the cluster that handled the call.
Cluster Call Manager Name	The name of the call manager that handled the call.
Duration (secs)	The duration of the call in seconds.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not select the average value of this metric to generate a report. You can select the average value for

Attribute	Description
	the Call Duration metric. You can however select the minimum and maximum options for this metric to generate reports.
Call Type	The type of the call. You can select one of the following options:
	Inbound
	Outbound
Terminating Party	The party that terminated the call. You can select any of the following options to filter the information:
	Destination Party
	Originating Party
Terminating Reason	The reason for termination of the call. You can select the following option to filter the information: Normal Ca Clearing.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to view reports based on the call detail records collected and processed by the iSPI for IP Telephony. You can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the terminating party, the terminating reason, and so on ) that were involved in the call.

You can also view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress.

The extension pack provides the reports in the following folders:

- Duration Volume By Details
- Hourly Usage Volume By Details

# **Duration Volume Reports**

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view the call duration reports based on the call quality metrics (such as jitter, latency, MOS, and so on) and the attributes of the IP telephony entities (such as the Call Manager name, the Call Manager name, the terminating party, the terminating reason, and so on ) that were involved in the call. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Call Duration	The call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Originating Leg	The jitter in the originating leg.for the call in milliseconds.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Originating Leg	The latency in the originating leg.for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Originating Leg	The number of packets lost in the originating leg for the call.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Jitter in Destination Leg	The jitter in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Latency in Destination Leg	The latency in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Packets Lost in Destination Leg	The number of packets lost in the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Destination Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the destination leg for the call.
<sup>1</sup> MOS Listening Quality K-Factor Average in Originating Leg	The average K-factor Mean Opinion Score (MOS) for listening quality at the originating leg for the call.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute.
Cluster ID (countDistinct) Cluster Call Manager Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute. The distinct count of the name of the call manager that handled the call.
Cluster ID (countDistinct) Cluster Call Manager Name (countDistinct) Call Type (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute. The distinct count of the name of the call manager that handled the call. The distinct count of the type of the call.
Cluster ID (countDistinct) Cluster Call Manager Name (countDistinct) Call Type (countDistinct) Terminating Party (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute.The distinct count of the name of the call manager that handled the call.The distinct count of the type of the call.The distinct count of the party that terminated the call.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of call attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the call attributes. For example, if you select the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct calling parties had made calls during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) as 3.

# **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated

metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 269 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. The minimum time range for this report is 24 hours. To change the call metric to sample count, select the **Sample Count** (sum) metric from the **Metric**: drop-down list after clicking **Options**.

For example, if you want to identify the hour of the month, week, or day when the number of call attempts were the highest, you can select the **Sample Count** as the metric and set the time control options to the default values for this report as discussed in the previous paragraph and then generate the report. You can move the mouse pointer on a cell in the table of the report to see the raw value of the call metric for the specific hour.

Note: You can generate a Chart Detail Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

 Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 269 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

For example, if you want to identify the Top N termination reasons for the call, you can specify the **Sample Count (sum)** as the call metric and select the call attribute **Termination Reason** in the **Grouping By** drop-down list.

This report defaults to the following parameters:

- All calls
- Metric for ranking: Sample Count (sum)
- Top/Bottom N: Top 10
- Grouping By call attribute: Cluster ID

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to

the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

For example, if you want to analyze the overall call volume variation for all the clusters in your deployment environment over a specified time frame, click the **Options** link and select the **Cluster ID** call attribute from the **Grouping By** drop-down list and select the **Sample Count (sum)** call metric from the **Metric:** drop-down list. You can select an appropriate time frame over which the call volume variation must be analyzed.

By default, this report groups data by the Cluster ID call attribute. You can select multiple call

attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another dropdown list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute drop-down lists

displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days.

For example, if you want to analyze the call duration and call volume based on the type of calls, you can select **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** and **Sample Count (sum)** as the primary and secondary

metrics and select the required values for the **Call Classification** call attribute from the Topology Filters page.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 269 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Call Duration (secs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

 Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Call Types and Termination Reasons
- 3. Click **Termination\_Reasons\_and\_Types**. This opens the Termination\_Reasons\_and\_Types page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Chart Detail CSV
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Top N Chart
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - Day of the Week: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report.
     You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report

11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Hourly Usage Reports

Using the report templates under this folder, you can view reports for the hourly usage of IP telephony entities throughout the duration of a call that might span across hours. You can also view reports for the volume of calls in progress and the hourly usage of IP telephony entities involved in the calls in progress. The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the following report templates under this folder:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Top N Chart
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Peak Period

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Hourly Usage (Erlangs)	The hourly usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the duration of the call.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the calls in progress.
Usage (Erlangs)	The total usage of the IP telephony entities measured in Erlangs during the time frame specified.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description

Metric	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the call attribute.
Cluster Call Manager Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the name of the call manager that handled the call.
Call Type (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the type of the call.
Terminating Party (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the party that terminated the call.
Terminating Reason (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the reason for termination of the call.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of call attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the call attributes. For example, if you select the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct calling parties had made calls during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) as 3.

# **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Sample Count** as the primary metric, the **Hourly Usage** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the number of calls in progress for the specific hour and the usage of the associated IP telephony entities during the hour.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.

- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 278 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 278 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 266 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 278 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 hours based on the **Usage (Erlangs) (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the calls on your network. You can select the number of calls you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **M**.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the call attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

 Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Call Types and Termination Reasons Reports" on page 265 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 266 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B Channel Activity Reports

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IP Telephony Cisco IPT BChannel Activity extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports based on gateway B channel attributes such as the gateway name, the gateway interface name, and so on and the gateway B-channel quality metrics such as the number of B channels, the number of in-service B channels and so on. This report helps you analyze the gateway B-channel activity over a specified time period.. See the sections *Call Metric* and *Call Quality Metric* under Specifying Metrics for Reports for more information about the metrics you can specify to generate reports.

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

**Note:** You must tune the polling periodicity of Cisco Voice Gateway Channel Usage state using the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Monitoring Configuration > to see the meaningful reports of the number of idle channels. See the iSPI for IP Telephony Deployment Guide for more information on tuning and configuration of this monitoring task to generate meaningful reports.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Gateway B Channel Activity Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco B-Channel activity reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Cisco CDR reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Enabling Cisco B Channel Activity Reports section for additional information.
- 3. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IP Telephony Cisco IPT BChannel Activity extension pack.

# Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports

To access the Cisco IP Telephony gateway b-channel activity reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Cisco\_IPT\_BChannel\_Activity > BChannelActivity** to see a list of reports you can launch for the Cisco B-Channel activity reports.
- You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Number of B Channels (avg)) as the primary metric and the Number of In-Service Channels (avg) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours

- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated call metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Gateway Name, gateway IP Address, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon
     Image: Image:

😇 🖽 🔯 and then select a value of your choice.

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 🔽 . This displays the following options:

Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.

- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
  click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
  the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	The unique identifier of the cluster that includes the gateway B channel.
Gateway Name	The name of the gateway that includes the B channel.
Gateway IP Address	The IP address of the gateway that includes the B channel.
Gateway Interface Name	The interface name of the gateway that includes the B channel.
Gateway Interface Name Configured in CUCM Cluster	The gateway interface name configured in the .Cisco Unified Communications Manager (CUCM) cluster.
SGUUID	The ID of the security group associated with the gateway that includes the B Channel.
H323 gateway Device Name Configured in CUCM Cluster	The H323 gateway device name configured in the .Cisco Unified Communications Manager (CUCM) cluster.
Gateway Protocol	The protocol configured for the gateway that includes the B Channel.
**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the B channel metrics, the B Channel quality metrics, and the distinct count of the B Channel attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Number of B Channels	The number of B Channels during the time frame specified.
<sup>1</sup> Number of In-Service Channels	The number of In-service Channels during the time frame specified. If the containing gateway interface is operationally in service, all the underlying channels are assumed to be operationally in service. If the containing gateway interface is operationally down, all the underlying channels are assumed to be operationally out of service
<sup>1</sup> Number of Idle	The number of idle channels during the time frame specified.
Channels	<b>Note:</b> You must tune the polling periodicity of Cisco Voice Gateway Channel Usage state using the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Monitoring Configuration > to see the meaningful reports of the number of idle channels.
Attribute Distinct	Description
Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID, where Cluster ID represents the name of the B Channel attribute.

Metric	Description
Gateway Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Name, where Gateway Name represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
Gateway IP Address (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway IP Address, where Gateway IP Address represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
Gateway Interface Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Interface Name, where Gateway Interface Name represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
Gateway Interface Name Configured in CUCM Cluster (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Interface Name Configured in CUCM Cluster, where Gateway Interface Name Configured in CUCM Cluster represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
SGUUID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the SGUUID, where SGUUID represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
H323 gateway Device Name Configured in CUCM Cluster (countDistinct)	The distinct count of theH323 gateway Device Name Configured in CUCM Cluster, where H323 gateway Device Name Configured in CUCM Cluster represents the name of the B Channel attribute.
Gateway Protocol (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Protocol, where Gateway Protocol represents the name of the call attribute.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of B Channel attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the B Channel attributes. For example, if you select the Gateway Interface Name (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct gateway interfaces were selected while generating the report, the report lists the value for the Gateway Interface Name (countDistinct) as 3.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar

- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 287 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 289 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 287 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 289 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

#### Sample Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a call metric.:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high).
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. The report displays the rank of the B Channel attribute value along with the B Channel metric value and the percentage of the B Channel metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the B Channel attribute values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the call attributes that exhibit unusual occurrence levels in the calls.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of B Channel attributes and ranks these groups of B Channel attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the B Channel metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a B Channel metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain B Channel attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 🔼.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two B Channel metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 287 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 289 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

Note: You can select multiple B Channel attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon

Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the B Channel attributes. You can remove the additional B Channel attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove** 

Grouping icon **M**.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 hours based on the **Number of B Channels (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the call duration for all the B Channels on your network. You can select the number of B Channels you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 286 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 286 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- Click BI Server > Public Folders from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco IP Telephony
- 3. Click Cisco\_IPT\_BChannel\_Activity
- 4. Click **BChannelActivity**. This opens the BChannelActivity page.
- 5. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period
- 6. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 7. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 9. Select the required topology attributes for the B channel that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 10. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 11. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 12. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# **Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT Gateway Call Activity extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the active calls on the H.323 gateway boxes and the MGCP gateway interfaces based on the attributes for the active calls such as the cluster ID, the H.323 gateway name, the MGCP gateway interface name, and so on. You can use these reports to identify the trends for the active calls on the H.323 gateway box or the MGCP gateway interface during a specific time frame.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco UCM call activity reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- 2. Configure gateway call activity monitoring settings.
- 3. Configure gateway call activity configuration settings
- 4. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT UCM Call Activity extension pack.

**Note:** See the *HP NNM iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help* for more information regarding step 2 and step 3.

## Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports

To access the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Cisco\_IPT\_Gateway\_Call\_Activity > Gateway\_Call\_Activity** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon
 Image: A select multiple values of your shairs (for pressing the Control Otri here)

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

- If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
  - Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 🐼 . This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
    provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
    click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
    the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
  - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	Indicates the ID of the cluster that includes the gateway box or the gateway interface.
Gateway Name	Indicates the name of the H.323 gatewaybox.
MGCP Gateway Interface Name	Indicates the name of the MGCP gateway interface.
SGUUID	Indicates the ID of the security group associated with the cluster.
Active Calls	Indicates the number of active calls on the gateway box or the gateway interface.

Attribute	Description
timekey	Indicates the time stamp to be specified.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Active Calls	Indicates the number of voice or video calls currently active on the H.323 gateway or the MGCP gateway interface.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Cluster ID where Cluster ID represents the gateway call activity attribute.
Gateway Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Gateway Name where Gateway Name represents the gateway call activity attribute.
MGCP Gateway Interface Name (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the MGCP Gateway Interface Name where MGCP Gateway Interface Name represents the gateway call activity attribute.
SGUUID	Indicates the UUID of the security group associated with the cluster.
Active Calls (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Active Calls where Active Calls represents the gateway call activity attribute
timekey	Indicates the time stamp to be specified.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also

displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified metrics and ranks these metrics based on the variation. The sort order lists the metrics from the metrics with the most changed values to the metrics with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value.

You can select multiple metrics by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🛍. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute

drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of metrics.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two voice mail device metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section. Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the metric values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric

using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Call Activity Reports to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Scheduling Reports

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_IPT\_Gateway\_Call\_Activity
- 3. Click Gateway\_Call\_Activity. This opens the GatewayCallActivity page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Top N Chart
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - Day of the Week: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report.
     You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report

11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Cisco IP Telephony Media Resource Activity Reports

The Cisco IP Telephony Media Resource Activity reports show performance and health of media resources of Cisco Unified Communications Manager monitored by NNMi.Graphs and charts on these reports help you identify the following:

- Availability of resources
- Total count of resources
- Total count of resources within a Cisco Unified Communications Manager cluster
- Types of resources within a Cisco Unified Communications Manager cluster

# **Glossary of Metrics**

Metric Name	Description
Available	The maximum number of available media resources for the monitored Cisco
Resources (max)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Available	The minimum number of available media resources for the monitored Cisco
Resources (min)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Available	The average number of available media resources for the monitored Cisco
Resources (avg)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Active Resources (max)	The maximum number of active media resources for the monitored Cisco Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Active Resources	The minimum number of active media resources for the monitored Cisco
(min)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Active Resources	The average number of active media resources for the monitored Cisco
(avg)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Unavailable Resources (max)	The maximum number of unavailable media resources for the monitored Cisco Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Unavailable Resources (min)	The minimum number of unavailable media resources for the monitored Cisco Unified Communications Manager cluster.
Unavailable	The average number of unavailable media resources for the monitored Cisco
Resources (avg)	Unified Communications Manager cluster.

## Media Resource Activity Chart Detail Report

This report plots the selected pair of metrics (which indicate the availability of media resources) on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics:
  - Y1 axis: Active resources (avg)
  - Y2 axis: Active resources (max)

The default report shows both graph and table.

#### Use Case

- · Analyze the trend of health and performance for media resources
- Detect persistent problems in media resources
- Compare health and performance of multiple media resources

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Media Resource Activity Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also

displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics: Active resources (avg)

#### Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a specific metric. The heat chart report enables you to:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high)
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- See when high metric values returned to normal after a period of time.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## Media Resource Activity Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics (which indicate the availability of Cisco Unified Communications Manager media resources) in a single, extended graph spanning over a day or multiple days.

#### Defaults

• Interval: one day

**Note:** For this report, you cannot select an interval smaller than one day.

- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No

- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered UCM clusters
  - All discovered media device types
  - All discovered media types
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics:
  - Primary: Active resources (avg)
  - Secondary: Active resources (max)

Use this report to observe:

- gradual trends over time
- isolated spikes
- to verify that an abnormal condition has returned to normal
- to make comparisons

This report also reveals:

- Day of week patterns
- Hour of day patterns

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## Media Resource Activity Most Changed Report

This report compares performance the media devices for two different (consecutive) time periods and ranks components by the amount of change. The sort order is most-changed to least-changed.

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- · Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval

- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics: Active resources (avg)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

Use this report to spot objects at selected grouping level that saw significant growth from the previous selected time period to the selected time period. Significant growth could point to a developing problem you need to know about. You can change the ranking metric and you can change how many elements are listed.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Media Resource Activity Peak Period Report**

The Peak Period Report ranks the utilization and performance of media resources during the busiest time of the selected time range.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics: Active resources (avg), Active resources (max)
- Grouping by time period: Hour

#### Use Case

Using this report, you can:

- · Identify the performance and utilization of the selected metrics during the peak period
- Identify the interfaces that have the highest or lowest performances or utilization levels during the peak period
- Compare the performance for multiple media devices during the peak period using this report
- Identify UCM clusters having a common network performance problem
- Identify the UCM that is suffering from a persistent performance problem

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## Media Resource Activity Top N Report

This report ranks media devices by the metric that you select. Use this report to spot the media device that performed at the extremes. You can use this report to analyze the historical data for elements that are exhibiting unusual utilization levels.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics: Active resources (avg)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

#### Use Case

- Detect the media resource experiencing a health or performance problem
- Analyze the utilization of the NNMi-managed media resources against on a specific time range
- · Detect the over-utilized and under-utilized media resources
- Compare the performance of multiple media resources for a single call Cisco Unified Communications Manager or a cluster

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

# Media Resource Activity Top N Chart

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks each media device with a chart; the chart indicates the change in metric values over the specified time range.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered media resource types
  - All discovered media resources
  - All SGUUIDs
- Metrics: Active resources (avg)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

#### Use Case

- Spot the media resources that performed at the extremes.
- Analyze the historical data for media resources that are exhibiting unusual utilization levels
- Detect the media resources that are experiencing a health or performance problem
- Analyze the utilization of the NNMi-managed media resources
- Detect the over-utilized and under-utilized media resources
- Detect the underlying reason of a persistent problem with a media resource. You can compare the performance for multiple media resources using this report.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

# **Cisco IP Telephony UCM Health Reports**

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony enables you to monitor a set of parameters that indicate the health and performance of Cisco Unified Communications Managers. When you configure the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony to poll the system health data from Cisco Unified Communications Managers, you can use Cisco IP Telephony UCM Health reports to analyze the polled data.

The Cisco IP Telephony UCM Health reports help you detect:

- Availability of Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Total count of Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Total memory and CPU utilization of a Cisco Unified Communications Manager

# **Glossary of Metrics**

Metric Name	Description
Active Partition Used (%) (max)	The maximum amount of space in use by the active partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Active Partition Used (%) (min)	The minimum amount of space in use by the active partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Active Partition Used (%) (avg)	The average space in use by the active partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Common Partition Used (%) (max)	The maximum amount of space in use by the common partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Common Partition Used (%) (min)	The minimum amount of space in use by the common partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Common Partition Used (%) (avg)	The average space in use by the common partition of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
CPU Time (%) (max)	The maximum CPU utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
CPU Time (%) (min)	The minimum CPU utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
CPU Time (%) (avg)	The average CPU utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.

Metric Name	Description
Memory Used (%) (max)	The maximum memory utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Memory Used (%) (min)	The minimum memory utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Memory Used (%) (avg)	The average memory utilization of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - CPU Time (%) (max)	The maximum CPU utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - CPU Time (%) (min)	The minimum CPU utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - CPU Time (%) (avg)	The average CPU utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - Memory Usage (%) (max)	The maximum memory utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - Memory Usage (%) (min)	The minimum memory utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Process: ccm - Memory Usage (%) (avg)	The average memory utilization of the ccm process during the selected time range.
Swap Partition Used (%) (max)	The maximum space in use by the swap partition during the selected time range.
Swap Partition Used (%) (min)	The minimum space in use by the swap partition during the selected time range.
Swap Partition Used (%) (avg)	The average space in use by the swap partition during the selected time range.

Chapter 2:	
------------	--

Metric Name	Description
Swap Space Used (%) (max)	The maximum swap space used by the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Swap Space Used (%) (min)	The minimum swap space used by the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Swap Space Used (%) (avg)	The average swap space used by the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
System Reboot (sum)	The total number of system reboots during the selected time range.
Total Processes (max)	The maximum number of processes on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Total Processes (min)	The minimum number of processes on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Total Processes (avg)	The average number of processes on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Total Threads (max)	The maximum number of threads on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Total Threads (min)	The minimum number of threads on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
Total Threads (avg)	The average number of threads on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager during the selected time range.
VM Used (%) (max)	The maximum virtual memory in use during the selected time range.
VM Used (%) (min)	The minimum virtual memory in use

Metric Name	Description
	during the selected time range.
VM Used (%) (avg)	The average virtual memory in use during the selected time range.

# **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics (which indicate the health of the Cisco Unified Communications Manager system) in a single, extended graph spanning over a day or multiple days.

#### Defaults

• Interval: one day

Note: For this report, you cannot select an interval smaller than one day.

- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics:
  - Primary: Active partition used (%) (max)
  - Secondary: Active resources (%) (avg)

#### Use Case

Use this report to observe:

- gradual trends over time
- isolated spikes
- to verify that an abnormal condition has returned to normal
- to make comparisons

This report also reveals:

- Day of week patterns
- Hour of day patterns

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

# **Chart Details Report**

This report plots the selected pair of metrics (which indicate the health of Cisco Unified Communications Managers) on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics:
  - Y1 axis: Active resources (%) (avg)
  - Y2 axis: Active resources (%) (max)

The default report shows both graph and table.

#### Use Case

- Analyze the trend of health and performance of Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Detect persistent problems in Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Compare health and performance of multiple Cisco Unified Communications Manager systems

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

# **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection:
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics: Active partition used (%) (avg)

#### Use Case

Use the Heat Chart report to identify the gradual shift in the range of values for a specific metric. The heat chart report enables you to:

- Spot an isolated instance (when the metric value was high)
- Spot day-of-the-week patterns.
- See when high metric values returned to normal after a period of time.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Most Change Report**

This report compares performance the media devices for two different (consecutive) time periods and ranks components by the amount of change. The sort order is most-changed to least-changed.

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour

- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics: Active resources (avg), Active resources (max)
- Grouping by time period: Hour
- Metrics: Active partition used (%) (avg)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

Use this report to spot objects at selected grouping level that saw significant growth from the previous selected time period to the selected time period. Significant growth could point to a developing problem you need to know about. You can change the ranking metric and you can change how many elements are listed.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Peak Period Report**

The Peak Period Report ranks the utilization and performance of Cisco Unified Communications Managers during the busiest time of the selected time range.

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers

- All SGUUIDs
- All tenants
- Metrics: Active resources (avg), Active resources (max)
- Grouping by time period: Hour

Using this report, you can:

- Identify the performance and utilization of the selected metrics during the peak period
- Identify the interfaces that have the highest or lowest performances or utilization levels during the peak period
- Compare the performance for multiple media devices during the peak period using this report
- Identify UCM clusters having a common network performance problem
- Identify the UCM that is suffering from a persistent performance problem

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Top N Report**

This report ranks media devices by the metric that you select. Use this report to spot the Cisco Unified Communications Manager that performed at the extremes. You can use this report to analyze the historical data for elements that are exhibiting unusual utilization levels.

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics: Active Partition Used (%) (max), Metrics: Active Partition Used (%) (avg)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

- Detect the media resource experiencing a health or performance problem
- Analyze the utilization of the NNMi-managed Cisco Unified Communications Manager against on a specific time range
- · Detect the over-utilized and under-utilized media resources
- Compare the performance of multiple Cisco Unified Communications Managers

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks each Cisco Unified Communications Manager with a chart; the chart indicates the change in metric values over the specified time range.

#### Defaults

- Interval: one day
- Display grain: one hour
- Auto refresh: No
- Time zone: Server time
- Relative start: Yes; last rolling interval
- Topology attribute selection
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Manager clusters
  - All discovered Cisco Unified Communications Managers
  - All SGUUIDs
  - All tenants
- Metrics: Active partition used (%) (avg), Active partition used (%) (max)
- Grouping by: Cluster ID

#### Use Case

- Spot the Cisco Unified Communications Manager that performed at the extremes.
- Analyze the historical data for media resources that are exhibiting unusual utilization levels
- Detect the Cisco Unified Communications Managers that are experiencing a health or performance problem
- Analyze the utilization of the NNMi-managed Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Detect the over-utilized and under-utilized Cisco Unified Communications Managers
- Detect the underlying reason of a persistent problem with a Cisco Unified Communications Manager. You can compare the performance for multiple Cisco Unified Communications Managers using this report.

See the following topics in the Using Reports > Change Default Settings section in the Network Performance Server/NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics Online Help:

- To change the Time Controls defaults, see the Change Time Controls topic.
- To change the Topology Filters defaults, see the Set Topology Filters topic.
- To change the Report Options defaults, see the Change Report Options topic.

# **Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT VM Information extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the voice mail devices based on the voice mail attributes such as total number of ports provisioned (Total Number of Ports Provisioned) and voice mail metrics such as the number of ports active for inbound calls (Number of Ports Active for Inbound Calls (avg), the number of ports provisioned for outbound calls (Number of Ports Provisioned for Outbound Calls (avg).

The extension pack retains the detailed data in the Network Performance Server (NPS) for a period of 14 days and retains the summary data for a period of 70 days.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Voice Mail Reporting**

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco IP voice mail reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Enable Cisco Voice Mail reporting in the iSPI for IP Telephony. See the Online Help for the iSPI for IP Telephony > Help for Administrators > Reporting Configuration > Enabling Voice Mail Reporting section for additional information.

3. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT VM Information extension pack.

## Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports

To access the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail reports from the NNMi console:

To access the Cisco IP Telephony Gateway Calls reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony** > **Cisco\_IPT\_VM\_Information** > **CiscoIPTVMInfoMetrics** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.
- 4. You can click any report format to launch the specific report based on the default metrics (Current Number of Licensed Subscribers (avg)) as the primary metric and the Current Number of Subscribers Licensed for VMI (avg) as the secondary metric with no Topology Filter selected.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour

- 2 Hours
- 12 Hours
- 24 Hours
- 7 Days
- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data. For example, you can specify the topology filters based on a combination of certain specific values for the Call Manager Name, Calling Party Number, Called Party Number, and so on. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon
     Image: Image:

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon
 Image: Image:

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control **Ctrl** key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🛄 🔠 🖾 . This displays the following options:

Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.

- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
  provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and
  click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses
  the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Call Attribute	Description
Unity IP Address	The IP address of the Cisco Unity voice mail device.
Max Subscribers Licensed	The maximum number of subscribers licensed with the voice mail device.
Max Subscribers Licensed for UM	The maximum number of subscribers licensed for Unified Messaging (UM).
Max Subscribers Licensed for VMI	The maximum number of subscribers licensed for Visual Messaging Interface (VMI).
Max Number of Languages Licensed	The maximum number of languages licensed.
Max Number of TTS Ports Licensed	The maximum number of Text- To-Speech (TTS) ports licensed.
Max Number of Voice Ports Licensed	The maximum number of voice ports licensed.
Total Number of Ports Provisioned	The total number of ports provisioned.
Number of Ports Provisioned for Inbound Calls	The number of ports provisioned for inbound calls.

Call Attribute	Description
Number of Ports Provisioned for Outbound Calls	The number of ports provisioned for outbound calls.
SGUUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the voice mail device.
	<b>Note:</b> Do not use this attribute to filter or group your reports. This is an internal attribute used for row-level security of user roles.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Current Number of Licensed Subscribers	The current number of licensed subscribers.
<sup>1</sup> Current Number of Subscribers Licensed for VMI	The current number of subscribers licensed for Visual Messaging Interface (VMI).
<sup>1</sup> Total Number of Ports Active	The total number of ports active.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Ports Active for Inbound Calls	The number of ports active for inbound calls.
<sup>1</sup> Number of Ports Active for Outbound Calls	The number of ports active for outbound calls.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description

Metric	Description
Unity IP Address (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Unity IP Address, where Unity IP Address represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Subscribers Licensed (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Subscribers Licensed, where Max Subscribers Licensed represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Subscribers Licensed for UM (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Subscribers Licensed for UM, where Max Subscribers Licensed for UM represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Subscribers Licensed for VMI (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Subscribers Licensed for VMI, where Max Subscribers Licensed for VMI represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Number of Languages Licensed (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Number of Languages Licensed, where Max Number of Languages Licensed represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Number of TTS Ports Licensed (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Number of TTS Ports Licensed, where Max Number of TTS Ports Licensed represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Max Number of Voice Ports Licensed (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Max Number of Voice Ports Licensed, where Max Number of Voice Ports Licensed represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Total Number of Ports Provisioned (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Total Number of Ports Provisioned, where Total Number of Ports Provisioned represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Number of Ports Provisioned for Inbound Calls (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Number of Ports Provisioned for Inbound Callse, where Number of Ports Provisioned for Inbound Calls represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
Number of Ports Provisioned for Outbound Calls (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the Number of Ports Provisioned for Outbound Calls, where Number of Ports Provisioned for Outbound Calls represents the name of the voice mail attribute.
SGUUID (countDistinct)	The distinct count of the SGUUID, where SGUUID represents the name of the voice mail attribute.

 $^1\ensuremath{\mathsf{Y}}\xspace$ ou can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of call attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the call attributes. For example, if you select the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct calling parties had made calls during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Calling Party Number (countDistinct) as 3.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart
- Peak Period

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

For example, if you select the **Current Number of Licensed Subscribers** as the primary metric, the **Current Number of Subscribers Licensed for VMI** as the secondary metric, generate the report and then select the **Display Grain** as one hour, you can analyze the trend for the number of licenses used for VMI.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 327 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 329 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:

- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
  option by default.
- Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 327 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 329 to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the voice mail device metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of voice mail device attributes and ranks these groups of voice mail device attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the voice mail device metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a voice mail device metric, specify the voice mail device attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain voice mail device attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>11</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two voice mail device metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 327 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 329 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Peak Period Report

This report by default, displays the top 10 calls based on the **Current Number of Licensed Subscribers (avg)** metric. You can generate this report for an hour, a day, or a week to analyze the number of licensed subscribers on your network. You can select the number subscribers you want the report to display from the options provided by the report template.

#### To launch a Peak Period report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Peak Period report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony Voice Mail Reports" on page 326 to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 326 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_IPT\_VM\_Information
- 3. Click CiscolPTVMInfoMetrics. This opens the CiscolPTVMInfoMetrics page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Top N Chart
  - Peak Period
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - Day of the Week: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# **Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT UCM Call Activity extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the call activity on the UCM clusters and the UCMs based on the call activity metrics such as the number of calls in progress, the number of incomplete

calls, the attempted calls, and so on. You can use these reports to identify the trends for the call activity on the UCM clulster or the UCM during a specific time frame.

For example, if you experience a lot of incomplete calls on the network, you can generate a Top N report by selecting the Incomplete Calls as the metric and then specifying a time frame to identify when the metric had the highest value. This helps in identifying the time frame when the metric value was above the acceptable value. You can then see the incidents generated for the specific time frame to check for any alerts that might assist you in rectifying the underlying cause.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco UCM Call Activity Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco UCM call activity reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- 2. Configure SSH credentials for the Cisco Unified Communication Manager you want to monitor.
- 3. Configure call activity monitoring.
- 4. Configure Call Activity Configuration Settings.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT UCM Call Activity extension pack.

**Note:** See the *HP NNM iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help* for more information regarding step 2 through step 4.

# Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports

To access the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.

3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony** > **Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_Call\_Activity** > **UCM\_Call\_Activity** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

## **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the Search button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon 

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control Ctrl key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 🐼 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- **Results**: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the **Search** button. You can select the values that you want and click the **Insert** button to.move the selected values to the **Choices** list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the **Remove** button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the Select All link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- Select the Not option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

**Note:** You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of

Attribute	Description
	calls. Indicates the count of calls.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Calls in Progress	Indicates the number of voice or video calls currently in progress on the Cisco Unified Communications Manager. This includes the number of active calls as well.
<sup>1</sup> Completed Calls	Indicates the number of calls that were connected and terminated through the Cisco Unified Communications Manager.
<sup>1</sup> Incomplete Calls	Indicates the difference between the attempted calls and the completed calls.
<sup>1</sup> Attempted Calls	Indicates the calls attempted. A call attempt occurs when the phone is taken from the hook and replaced back on the hook. A call attempt gets registered irrespective of the call being made. A call transfer or a conference attempt increments the number of attempted calls.
<sup>1</sup> Attempted System Calls	Indicates the number of calls originating from the Cisco Unified Communications Manager and the attempted calls to the Unity Message Waiting Indicator.
<sup>1</sup> Active Calls	Indicates the number of voice or video calls currently active and connected to the Cisco Unified Communications Manager.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the call attributes and the call metric, this report ranks the call attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the call metric. This report includes all the calls that had a variation for the specified call attribute. The report displays the rank of the call attribute value along with the call metric value and the percentage of the call metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **M**.

5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.

- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified metrics and ranks these metrics based on the variation. The sort order lists the metrics from the metrics with the most changed values to the metrics with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value.

You can select multiple metrics by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🖾. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute

drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of metrics.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two voice mail device metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section. Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the metric values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM Call Activity Reports to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_Call\_Activity
- 3. Click UCM\_Call\_Activity. This opens the UCMCallActivity page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports.
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.
- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - **Display Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report

11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# **Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco IPT UCM TFTP Server extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the configuration build activities performed by the Cisco TFTP server based on the build metrics such as the BuildCount, BuildAbortCount, BuildDevice Count, and so on. See the Specifying Metrics for Reports section for more information about the build metrics. You can use these reports to identify the trends for the configuration file build activity on the Cisco TFTP server during a specific time frame.

For example, if you experience a lot of configuration file build failures on the network, you can generate a Top N report by selecting the BuildAbortCount as the metric and then specifying a time frame to identify when the metric had the highest value. This helps in identifying the time frame when the metric value was above the acceptable value. You can then see the incidents generated for the specific time frame to check for any alerts that might assist you in rectifying the underlying cause.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Prerequisites to Enable Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco UCM TFTP server reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- 2. Configure SSH credentials for the Cisco Unified Communication Manager you want to monitor.
- 3. Configure Cisco TFTP server monitoring settings.
- 4. Configure Cisco TFTP Activity Configuration Settings.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco IPT UCM TFTP Server extension pack.

**Note:** See the *HP NNM iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help* for more information regarding step 2 through step 4.

## Accessing the Cisco IPT UCM TFTP Server Reports

To access the Cisco IPT UCM TFTP Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_TFTP\_Server** > **UCM\_TFTP\_Server** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days

- 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the Relative Start option.
- 4. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# Specifying Topology Filters

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon 🗃 🖽 📿

and then select a value of your choice.

• If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control Ctrl key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

#### This displays the following options: Search and Select icon

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the **Case insensitive** check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- **Results**: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the **Search** button. You can select the values that you want and click the **Insert** button to move the selected values to the **Choices** list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the **Remove** button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- Select the Not option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of configuration file builds. Indicates the count of all configuration file builds.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> BuildAbortCount	Indicates the number of times the configuration file build process was aborted. The count increases when the build process for devices, sof keys, units, and dial rules get aborted due to group-level change notifications.
<sup>1</sup> BuildCount	Indicates the number of times the TFTP server performed a new build of all the configuration files in response to a database change notification affecting all the devices. The count starts from the time the TFTP service started.
<sup>1</sup> BuildDeviceCount	Indicates the number of devices that were processed during the last configuration build. This count increases when processing device change notifications. The count increases when new devices get added and reduces when existing devices are removed.

Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> BuildDialRuleCount	Indicates the number of dial rules that were processed during the last configuration build. This count increases when processing dial rule change notifications. The count increases when new dial rules get added and reduces when existing dial rules are removed.
<sup>1</sup> BuildSignCount	Indicates the number of security-enabled phones for which the configuration file was digitally signed with the Cisco UCM server key during the last configuration build. The count increases when processing security-enabled phone change notifications.
<sup>1</sup> BuildSoftKeyCount	Indicates the number of soft keys that were processed during the last configuration build. The count increases when new soft keys get added and reduces when existing soft keys are removed.
<sup>1</sup> BuildUnitCount	Indicates the number of gateways that were processed during the las configuration build. The count increases when processing gateway change notifications. The count increases when new gateways get added and reduces when existing gateways are removed.
<sup>1</sup> ChangeNotifications	Indicates the total number of all the Cisco UCM database change notifications received by the TFTP server. This count increases ever time a device configuration is updated using the Cisco UCM Administration interface. This update triggers a database change notification to the TFTP server to rebuild the configuration files.
<sup>1</sup> DeviceChangeNotifications	Indicates the number of times the TFTP server received database change notifications to create, update, or delete configuration files for devices.
<sup>1</sup> DialRuleChangeNotifications	Indicates the number of times the TFTP server received database change notifications to create, update, or delete configuration files for dial rules.
<sup>1</sup> HTTPRequestsAborted	Indicates the total number of HTTP requests canceled by the HTTP server unexpectedly. An HTTP request cancellation occurs when the requested device cannot be located on the network or when the file transfer gets interrupted due to network connectivity issues.
<sup>1</sup> HTTPRequestsProcessed	Indicates the total number of HTTP requests successfully processed by the HTTP server.
<sup>1</sup> RequestsAborted	Indicates the total number of TFTP requests canceled by the TFTP server unexpectedly. A TFTP request cancellation occurs when the requested device cannot be located on the network or when the file transfer gets interrupted due to network connectivity issues.
<sup>1</sup> RequestsProcessed	Indicates the total number of TFTP requests successfully processed by the TFTP server.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description

Metric	Description
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
    option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the configuration file builds that had a variation for the attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified metrics and ranks these metrics based on the variation. The sort order lists the metrics from the metrics with the most changed values to the metrics with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value.

You can select multiple metrics by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute

drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of metrics.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two voice mail device metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section. Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the metric values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco IP Telephony UCM TFTP Server Reports to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_IPT\_UCM\_TFTP\_Server
- 3. Click UCM\_TFTP\_Server. This opens the UCMTFTPServer page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Top N Chart
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.

- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - Time Range: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# **Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Cisco UCOS Service Availability extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports on the availability of the services on the Cisco UCM. You can generate the reports for all the UCM services on a cluster. You can base the report generation on the services discovered on the UCM and the attributes of the services such as the Cluster ID, the Call Manager Name, the Service Name, and so on. You can use these reports to identify the trends for the availability of services and the change of state for services during a specific time frame.

For example, if you experience a service down time above the permissible level for one of the services on the UCM, such as the Cisco AXL Web Service, which results in the failure to collect AXL data from the cluster, you can generate a Top N report by selecting the Cisco AXL Web Service as the metric and then specifying a time frame to identify when the metric had the highest value. This helps in identifying the time frame when the metric value was above the acceptable value. You can then see the incidents generated for the specific time frame to check for any alerts that might assist you in rectifying the underlying cause.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed

- Calendar
- Top N Chart

# Prerequisites to Enable Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reporting

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Cisco Call Manager Service Availability reporting:

- 1. Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- 2. Configure SSH credentials for the Cisco Unified Communication Manager you want to monitor.
- 3. Configure Call Manager Service Availability monitoring settings.
- 4. Configure Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Configuration Settings.
- 5. Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Cisco Cisco UCOS Service Availability extension pack.

**Note:** See the *HP NNM iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help* for more information regarding step 2 through step 4.

## Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports

To access the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting-Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Cisco IP Telephony > Cisco\_UCOS\_Service\_Availability > Service\_Availability** to see a list of reports you can launch using this extension pack.

After launching a report, you can configure the report based on your requirements by specifying the following details and regenerating the report:

- Specify time controls
- Specify topology filters
- Specify metrics

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated on the Time Controls page. This page lets you specify the following time control details:
- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list. You can select the time zone of your choice even if you choose to enable the **Relative Start** option.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

## **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the attribute values available in the accumulated metric data.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods and click the **Search** button:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology filter, click the Single value select icon

and then select a value of your choice.

If you want to select multiple values for a topology filter, click the Multi value select icon 

and then select values of your choice (by pressing the Control Ctrl key).

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 🐼 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- **Results**: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the **Search** button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the **Remove** button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the Select All link to select all the listed values. You can use the Deselect All link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

**Note:** You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Attribute	Description
Cluster ID	Indicates the ID of the cluster that includes the Call Manager.
Cluster Call Manager Name	Indicates the name of the Call Manager.
Service Name	Indicates the name of the service on the Call Manager.
SGUUID	Indicates the ID of the security group associated with the cluster that includes the call manager.
Started	Indicates if the service is started. The value 0 indicates that the service is not started and the value 1 indicates that the service is started.

Attribute	Description
Stopped	Indicates if the service is stopped. The value 0 indicates that the service is not stopped and the value 1 indicates that the service is stopped.
Deactivated	Indicates if the service is deactivated. The value 0 indicates that the service is not deactivated and the value 1 indicates that the service is deactivated.
Timestamp	Indicates the time stamp to be specified.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics and the distinct count of attributes that you can select to generate reports.

Metric	Description
Service Availability	Indicates the availability of the service.
Attribute Distinct Count	Description
Cluster ID (countDistinct)	Indicates the distinct count of the Cluster ID where Cluster ID indicates the attribute for service availability.
Cluster Call Manager Name (countDistinct)	Indicates the distinct count of the Cluster Call Manager Name where Cluster Call Manager Name indicates the attribute for service availability.

Metric	Description
Service Name (countDistinct)	Indicates the distinct count of the Service Name where Service Name indicates the attribute for service availability.
SGUUID	Indicates the ID of the security group associated with the cluster that includes the call manager.
Started	Indicates the attribute of service availability.
Stopped	Indicates the attribute of service availability.
Deactivated	Indicates the attribute of service state.
Timestamp	Indicates the time stamp to be specified.

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Chart Detail Report

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

**Note:** You can generate a Chart Detail Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the **Chart**

- or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this
  option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can generate a Heat Chart Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. This report includes all the configuration file builds that had a variation for the attribute. The report displays the rank of the attribute value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

**Note:** You can generate a Top N Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.

- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified metrics and ranks these metrics based on the variation. The sort order lists the metrics from the metrics with the most changed values to the metrics with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value.

You can select multiple metrics by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute

drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter you want to apply for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of metrics.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two voice mail device metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

Note: You can generate a Calendar Report on a Daily (D), Weekly (W), or a Monthly (M) basis.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section. Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section Specifying Topology Filters to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the Specifying Metrics for Reports to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the metric values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section Accessing the Cisco Call Manager Service Availability Reports to launch the Top N chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the Specifying Time Controls section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter that you want to apply on the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Scheduling Reports**

This extension pack allows you to schedule your reports to run at specified intervals. You can do as follows to schedule the generation of reports:

#### To schedule report generation:

- 1. Click **BI Server > Public Folders** from the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page. This opens the HP NNM iSPI Performance BI Portal page.
- 2. Click Cisco\_UCOS\_Service\_Availability
- 3. Click Service\_Availability. This opens the ServiceAvailability page.
- 4. Click **Report Templates suitable for scheduling**. This displays the report templates that you can use to schedule generation of reports:
  - Chart Detail
  - Heat Chart
  - Top N
  - Most Changed
  - Calendar
  - Top N Chart
- 5. Click a report template. This opens the Time Controls page.

- 6. Specify the following details for the time controls:
  - **Time Range**: set the time range for report generation. The Server Start Date/Time changes automatically based on your selection for this field.
  - Display Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
  - Note: The minimum value you can specify for the display grain is one hour for Cisco IP Telephony reports.
  - Hour of the Day:specify the hour of the day for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
  - **Day of the Week**: specify the day of the week for which you want to generate the report. You can select multiple values from this drop-down list by pressing the Control (Ctrl) key.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection**. This opens the Topology Filter page.
- 8. Select the required topology attributes for the call that you want to filter while generating the report.
- 9. Click Confirm Selection. This opens the Report Options page.
- 10. Select the primary and the secondary metrics for the report
- 11. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report and complete the scheduling procedure. The iSPI for IP Telephony generates the report periodically based on the time controls, topology filter, and the metrics specified.

# Chapter 3

# **Microsoft IP Telephony Reports**

Microsoft IP telephony reports are available only if you install the NNM iSPI for IP Telephony on a Windows management server. Skip this chapter if you installed NNMi and the iSPI on a UNIX/Linux management server.

The NNM iSPI for IP Telephony provides you with the following extension packs to view and analyze the performance data of the Microsoft IP telephony environment:

- Call Reports
- Gateway B Channel Activity
- Gateway Statistics
- Microsoft Exchange
- Microsoft Lync

## **Call Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Call Reports extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports based on the Call Details Record (CDR) collected from the Microsoft IP Telephony network.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Prerequisites to Enable Call Reports**

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable call reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Call Reports extension pack.

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated using the Time Control workspace on the NNM iSPI Performance page.:

To specify time controls, do as follows:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list.
- Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report. This option is enabled only if you enable the Relative Start option.
- 5. Click Submit to apply the changes.

## **Call Detail Reports**

You can generate the call detail reports based on the call details collected from the IP telephony network. You can filter the reports based on the call attributes such as the Calling Party, the Called Party, and so on and generate the reports based on the call metrics such as the Duration (secs) (duration) of the call.

#### To access the Call Detail reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Microsoft IP Telephony > Call Reports > Call\_Detail\_Metrics**. This displays the reports you can launch for the call details.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the <sup>1</sup> (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Call Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Duration (secs)	The sum of the call duration in seconds.
Sample Count	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the reports based on the various combinations of the call detail values available in the accumulated metric data.

You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

con, 🖵 🖾 🖼 and then select a value of your choice.

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Call Attribute	Description
Session Sequence	The Session Sequence.for the call.
Calling Party	The party that made the call.
Called Party	The party to which the call was made.
Calling Party Endpoint URI	The URI for the endpoint from where the call was made.
Called Party Endpoint URI	The URI of the endpoint to which the call was made.
Call Controller Pool	The pool that includes the Call Controller.
Call Controller	The Frontend pool that handled the call.
Media Type	The Media Type for the call.
Session Type	The Session Type for the call.
Call Type	The type of the call.
Calling Party Access Type	The type of access for the calling party.
Called Party Access Type	The type of access for the call.
Calling Party Authentication	The authentication used by the calling party.
Called Party Authentication	The authentication used by the called party.
Calling Party Mediation Server	The Mediation Server that handled the call for the calling party. For example, handling PSTN-to-SIP calls or SIP-to-PSTN calls.
Called Party Mediation Server	The Mediation Server that handled the call for the called party. For example,

Call Attribute	Description
	handling PSTN-to-SIP calls or SIP-to-PSTN calls.
Calling Party Gateway	The Gateway used by the calling party for the call.
Called Party Gateway	The Gateway used by the called party for the call.
Calling Party Edge Server	The Edge Server used by the calling party for the call.
Called Party Edge Server	The Edge Server used by the called party for the call.
Source OCS Site	The OCS Site from where the call originated.
Destination OCS Site	The OCS Site to which the call was made.
Source Site	The Source NNMi site for the call.
Destination Site	The Destination NNMi site for the call.
Calling Party User Group	The user group to which the calling party belongs.
Called Party User Group	The user group to which the called party belongs.
Termination Reason	The Termination Reason for the call.
Tenant Name	The Tenant Name associated with the call controller for the call.
Tenant UUID	The Tenant UUID associated with the call controller for the call.
SecGroup Name	The security group name associated with the call controller that handled the call.
SecGroup UUID	The UUID for the security group associated with the

Call Attribute	Description
	call controller that handled the call.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

## Types of Reports

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 374to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.

- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 373 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 374 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 373 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 374to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. .Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 373 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report. You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New** 

**Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove** 

### Grouping icon 🔼

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Detail Reports" on page 372 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Call Quality Reports**

You can generate the call quality reports based on the call quality details from the IP telephony network. You can filter the reports based on the call quality attributes such as the Calling Party, the Called Party, and so on and generate the reports based on the call quality metrics such as the Conversational MOS of the call, the Audio Jitter for the call, and so on.

To access the Call Quality reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **Microsoft IP Telephony > Call Reports > Call\_Quality\_Metrics**. This displays the reports you can launch for the call details.

You can view the following types of reports for the call quality metrics:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed

- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the call metrics or the call attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Call Quality Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Conversational MOS	The Conversational MOS for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Overall Average Network MOS	The Overall Average Network MOS for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Send Listen MOS	The Send Listen MOS for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Receive Listen MOS	The Receive Listen MOS for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Audio Jitter	The Audio Jitter for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Audio Packet Loss Rate	The Audio Packet Loss Rate for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Audio Packet Utilization	The Audio Packet Utilization for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Audio Round Trip	The sum of the Audio Round Trip for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Video Jitter	The Video Jitter for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Video Packet Loss Rate	The Video Packet Loss Rate for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Video Packet Utilization	The Video Packet Utilization for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Video Round Trip	The Video Round Trip for the call.
<sup>1</sup> Video Frame Loss Rate	The Video Frame Loss Rate for the call.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the reports based on the various combinations of the call quality details available in the accumulated metric data.

You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, icon,

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select icon
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

Search and Select icon 💷 🖾 🖾 . This displays the following options:

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- Click Apply and then click Confirm Selection to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the calls.

Call Attribute	Description
Calling Party	The party that made the call.
Called Party	The party to which the call was made.
Media Type	The Media Type for the call.
Session Type	The Session Type for the call.
Calling Party User Agent	The user agent at the calling party.
Called Party User Agent	The user agent at the called party.
Calling Party Authentication	The authentication used by the calling party.
Called Party Authentication	The authentication used by the party to which the call was made.
Calling Party Relay IP Address	The Calling Party Relay IP Address for the call.
Called Party Relay IP Address	The relay IP address of the party that made the call.
Calling Party Connection Type	The connection type used by that party that made the call.
Called Party Connection Type	The connection type used by the party to which the call was made.
Source OCS Site	The OCS site from which the call originated.
Destination OCS Site	The OCS site to which the call was made.
Source Site	The Source NNMi site for the call.
Destination Site	The Destination NNMi site for the call.
Calling Party User Group	The user group to which the

Call Attribute	Description
	caller belongs.
Called Party User Group	The user group to which the called user belongs.
Tenant Name	The Tenant Name associated with the call controller for the call.
Tenant UUID	The UUID of the tenant associated with the call controller for the call.
SecGroup Name	The security group name associated with the call controller that handled the call.
SecGroup UUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the call controller for the call.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the call attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the call metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a call, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network after the completion of the call.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific call attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
   Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of

**message**: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 384to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 383 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 384to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 383 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 384to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 383 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon 🔼

Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.

Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- 1. **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 2. **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 3. **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 4. **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 5. **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 6. **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 8. **Bottom 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 9. **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 10. **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 11. **Sort All in Descending**: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 12. **Sort All in Ascending**: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.

Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Call Quality Reports" on page 382 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 372 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top pf the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Gateway Statistics Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Gateway Statistics extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the gateways discovered and monitored on the network.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the gateway such as the total inbound calls carried by the gateway, the total outbound calls carried by the gateway and so on and generate the report based on the gateway statistics metrics such as the total inbound calls carried, the inbound calls blocked, and so on. You can use the reports generated to see the performance of the gateway over a time period specified. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your gateway utilization.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Prerequisites to Enable Gateway Statistics Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable gateway statistics reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Gateway Statistics extension pack.

## Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports

To access the Gateway Statistics reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click Microsoft IP Telephony > Gateway Statistics > Gateway\_Statistics\_Metrics to view a list of the supported report formats.

## Specifying Topology Filters

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the gateway statistic attribute values available in the accumulated gateway statistic metric data. You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

and then select a value of your choice.

 If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
 and then collectively a feature of the select icon then select values of your choice by using the Control Ctrl key.



- If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
  - Search and Select icon 🗁 🗃 🖼 . This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
  - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the gateway statistics.

Gateway Statistic Attribute	Description
NodeGroup Name	The name of the node group that includes the node for the gateway discovered.
Node UUID	The UUID of the node for the gateway discovered.
Node Name	The name of the node for the gateway discovered.
Node Contact	The contact for the node for the gateway discovered.
Node Location	The location of the node for the gateway discovered.
Node Family	The family that includes the node for the gateway discovered.
Node Vendor	The vendor for the node.

Gateway Statistic Attribute	Description
Node ID	The unique ID of the node.
Node ODBID	The ODBID of the node.
Node HostName	The host name for the node.
Tenant Name	The tenant name associated with the node.
Tenant UUID	The UUID of the tenant associated with the node.
SecGroup Name	The name of the security group associated with the gateway.
SecGroup UUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the gateway.
Gateway IP Address	The IP address of the gateway.
Gateway Name	The name of the gateway.
Gateway Vendor	The vendor for the gateway.
Lync Site	The name of the Lync site that includes the gateway.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the gateway statistic metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a gateway, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific gateway statistic attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated using the Time Control workspace on the NNM iSPI Performance page:

To specify time controls, do as follows:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.

- Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
  - 1 Minute
  - 5 Minutes
  - 15 Minutes
  - 30 Minutes
  - 1 Hour
  - 2 Hours
  - 12 Hours
  - 24 Hours
  - 7 Days
  - 31 Days
  - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. **Grain**: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list.
- 4. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report. This option is enabled only if you enable the Relative Start option.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the gateway statistic metrics or the gateway statistic attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Gateway Statistic Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Inbound Calls Carried	Indicates the inbound calls carried by the gateway.
<sup>1</sup> Outbound Calls Carried	Indicates the outbound calls carried by the gateway.

Gateway Statistic Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Inbound Calls Blocked	Indicates the inbound calls blocked by the gateway
<sup>1</sup> Outbound Calls Blocked	Indicates the outbound calls blocked by the gateway
Total Inbound Calls Carried (sum)	Indicates the sum of the total inbound calls carried by the gateway.
Total Outbound Calls Carried (sum)	Indicates the sum of the total outbound calls carried by the gateway.
Total Inbound Calls Blocked (sum)	Indicates the sum of the total inbound calls blocked by the gateway.
Total Outbound Calls Blocked (sum)	Indicates the sum of the total outbound calls blocked by the gateway.
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count of calls. Indicates the count of calls.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:
- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 392to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 395 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 392to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 395 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also

displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 392to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 395 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>[1]</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 2. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 🔼.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway Statistics Reports" on page 392 to launch the Top N Chart report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 394 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup> Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric**: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:

- **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Gateway B-Channel Activity extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the gateway B-Channel usage on your network. These reports allow you to perform capacity planning by helping you to identify the B-Channel usage for each gateway interface included in a gateway. You can use these reports to identify if the channels in the gateway interface are utilized completely or if the channel utilization for the gateway interface is low. If the channel utilization is high, the network might experience call drops due to the lack of availability of free channels to carry calls. If the channel utilization is low, you can re-provision the channels to carry calls where the requirement is high.

You can filter the reports based on the various attributes of the gateway B-Channel such as the gateway IP address, the gateway name, the gateway interface name, the security group UUID, and the Lync site identity, and generate the report based on the number of B-Channels, the number of in-

service channels, the number of partially used channels, the number of idle channels, and the gateway interface percentage usage. You can use the reports generated to see the gateway interface usage trends over a time period specified. See the section Specifying Topology Filters for more information about the attributes you can specify to filter the reports. You can use the different report formats to view specific metric details across a range of time frames and perform a trend analysis to assist you better in taking decisions for your gateway utilization.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Prerequisites to Enable Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable gateway B-Channel activity reports:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Gateway B-Channel Activity extension pack.

## Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports

To access the Gateway B-Channel Activity reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- Click Microsoft IP Telephony > Gateway\_BChannel\_Activity to view a list of the supported report formats.

**Note:** You can also access the gateway B-Channel activity reports from the Gateway view on the NNMi console by selecting a gateway and then clicking **Actions > IP Telephony > B Channel Activity**.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the metric reports based on the various combinations of the gateway statistic attribute values available in the accumulated gateway statistic metric data.

You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

icon, icon,

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
   If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon
  - If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the
    - Search and Select icon 🛄 🔚 🖾 . This displays the following options:
    - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the Options link to select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the Case insensitive check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
    - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want and click the Insert button to move the selected values to the Choices list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
    - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions of the gateway BChannel.

Gateway BChannel Attribute	Description
Gateway Interface Name	The name of the gateway interface.
Gateway Name	The name of the gateway.

Gateway BChannel Attribute	Description
Gateway IP Address	The IP address of the gateway.
Lync Site Identity	The identity of the Lync Site that includes the gateway.
Security Group UUID	The Gateway Security Group UUID.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the gateway statistic metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values for a gateway, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific gateway statistic attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search and Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated using the Time Control workspace on the NNM iSPI Performance page:

To specify time controls, do as follows:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days

- ∘ 31 Days
- Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list.
- 4. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report. This option is enabled only if you enable the Relative Start option.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the gateway BChannel activity metrics or the gateway BChannel activity attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.
- 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Gateway BChannel Activity Metric	Description
Number of BChannels	Indicates the number of BChannels present in the gateway interface.
Number of In-service Channels	Indicates the number of channels that were completely in use during the reporting period.
Number of Partially Used Channels	Indicates the number of partially used channels during the reporting period.
Number of Idle Channels	Indicates the number of channels in the idle state during the reporting period.
<sup>1</sup> Gateway Interface Percent Usage (sum)	Indicates the percentage of usage of the interface calculated from the percentage of usage of the contained channels.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the call duration metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two call metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 402to be applied on the report.
- Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on previous page to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.

- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 402to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 405 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected call metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 402to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 405 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this

report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the call metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of call attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the call metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a call metric, specify the call attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain call attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>2</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the additional call

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Gateway B-Channel Activity Reports" on page 402 to launch the Top N Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 404 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple call attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the call attributes. You can remove the

additional call attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon **M**.

- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Exchange Server Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Exchange Server extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the performance metrics collected using SiteScope from the Microsoft Exchange servers that are part of the Lync site monitored.

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

# Prerequisites to Enable Microsoft Exchange Server Reports

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Microsoft Exchange server reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Install and configure SiteScope to collect performance metrics from the Microsoft Exchange servers that you want to monitor.
- Create a data integration point between NNMi and SiteScope according to the details specified in the *SiteScope Online Help*.
- Enable performance monitoring for Microsoft Unified Communications and Collaboration Manager using the HP SiteScope IP Telephony link present under the Integration Module Configuration workspace. For more details, see the *iSPI for IP Telephony > Microsoft IP Telephony Inventory > Integrating with SiteScope* section in the *iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help*.

• Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Exchange Server extension pack.

## Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports

To access the Microsoft Exchange Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click UCC Applications > Microsoft Exchange > Exchange\_UM. This displays the reports you can launch for the Microsoft Exchange server.

# **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated using the Time Control workspace on the NNM iSPI Performance page.:

To specify time controls, do as follows:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list.

- 4. Auto Refresh: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report. This option is enabled only if you enable the Relative Start option.
- 5. Click **Submit** to apply the changes.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the reports based on the various combinations of the Microsoft Exchange server performance values available in the accumulated metric data.

You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

#### To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters** from the menu. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select
    - icon,
  - If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon in the select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl-key.
  - If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select



- This displays the following options:
  - Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the **Case insensitive** check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
  - Results: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you
    provided after you click the Search button. You can select the values that you want
    and click the Insert button to.move the selected values to the Choices list. The report
    uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
  - Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

**Note:** You can use the **Select All** link to select all the listed values. You can use the **Deselect All** link to clear all the selected values.

3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.

4. Click **Apply** and then click **Confirm Selection** to select the topology filter and generate the report.

Note: You can click Reset to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Topology Filter	Description
NodeGroup Name	The name of the node group.
Node UUID	The UUID of the node.
Node Name	The name of the node.
Node Contact	The contact for the node.
Node Location	The location of the node.
Node Family	The family that the node is a part of.
Node Vendor	The vendor for the node.
Node ID	The unique ID of the node.
Node ODBID	The ODBID of the node.
Node HostName	The host name for the node.
Tenant Name	The tenant name associated with the node.
Tenant UUID	The tenant UUID associated with the node.
SecGroup Name	The security group name associated with the node.
SecGroup UUID	The security group UUID associated with the node.
Monitor Name	The server monitor name.
Monitor Type	The server monitor type.
Site Name	The user-configured NNMi Site.
SiteUUID	The site UUID
Lync Site Name	The Lync Site name
Lync Site UUID	The Lync Site UUID.
Pool FQDN	The pool FQDN.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the metric records available in the database at a given point of time. To select the specific attribute values, make sure that an hour has elapsed on the network.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the <sup>1</sup> (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Exchange Server Metrics	Description
<sup>1</sup> Failed Mailbox Connection% (Last Hour)	The percentage of failed mailbox connection attempts for the last hour.
Exception - Failed Mailbox Connection% (Last Hour) (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Rejected Inbound Calls by UM Service% (Last Hour)	The percentage of inbound calls rejected by the Unified Messaging (UM) service in the last hour.
Exception - Rejected Inbound Calls by UM Service% (Last Hour) (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Rejected Inbound Calls by UM Worker% (Last Hour)	The percentage of inbound calls rejected by the UM worker process in the last hour.
Exception - Rejected Inbound Calls by UM Worker% (Last Hour) (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Voice Message Failures% (Last Hour)	The percentage of voice messages for which transcription failed in the last hour.
Exception - Voice Message Failures% (Last Hour) (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.

Exchange Server Metrics	Description
<sup>1</sup> Average Hub Transport Access Failures%	The percentage of average hub transport access failures.
Exception - Average Hub Transport Access Failures% (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Call Answering Rules Download Failures%	The percentage of call answering rules download failures.
Exception - Call Answering Rules Download Failures% (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Calls Disconnected Error/sec	The number of calls disconnected in a second after an external error occurred,
Exception - Calls Disconnected Error/sec (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Directory Access Failures (sum)	The sum of the directory access failures.
Exception - Directory Access Failures (sum)	Indicates the quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Failed Mailbox Connection Attempts%	The percentage of mailbox connection attempts that failed.
Exception - Failed Mailbox Connection Attempts%	Indicates the quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	The sum of the metrics error count.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

**Note:** The distinct count of attributes represents the sum of the occurrences of unique values for the attributes. For example, if you select the Node Name (countDistinct) metric, and three distinct node names had participated during the time specified, the report lists the value for the Node Name (countDistinct) as 3.

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 413to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 415 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected server metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 413to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 415 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected server metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 413to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 415 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple server attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the server attributes. You can remove the additional server attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>Clicking <sup></sup>

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending
    order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Most Changed Report**

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of server attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple server attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the server attributes. You can remove the additional

server attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon 🔀.

**Note:** You can generate a Most Changed Report on an Hourly (**H**), Daily (**D**), Weekly (**W**), or a Monthly (**M**) basis.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.
- 3. Click Options from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Chart Report**

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Exchange Server Reports" on page 412 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 412 section.
- 3. Click Options from the menu.
- Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

Note: You can select multiple server attributes by clicking the Add New Grouping icon 🛅. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the server attributes. You can remove the additional server attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon 🔀

- Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - Top 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Top 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Top 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Top 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 5: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top

N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.

8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Lync Reports**

The iSPI for IP Telephony provides the Microsoft Lync extension pack. You can use this extension pack to generate reports for the performance metrics collected using SiteScope from the following Microsoft servers that are part of the Lync site monitored:

- Audio-video conferencing Server
- Archiving Server
- Director Server
- Edge Server
- Frontend Server
- Mediation Server
- Monitoring Server
- Registrar Server

# **Prerequisites to Enable Microsoft Lync Reports**

You must make sure that the following prerequisites are satisfied to enable Microsoft Lync reporting:

- Install the NNM iSPI Performance for Metrics/Network Performance Server (iSPI Performance for Metrics) in your deployment environment before installing the iSPI for IP Telephony.
- Install and configure SiteScope to collect performance metrics from the Microsoft Lync site for which you want to monitor and generate reports.
- Create a data integration point between NNMi and SiteScope according to the details specified in the *SiteScope Online Help*.
- Enable performance monitoring for Microsoft Unified Communications and Collaboration Manager using the HP SiteScope IP Telephony link present under the Integration Module Configuration workspace. For more details, see the iSPI for IP Telephony > Microsoft IP Telephony Inventory > Integrating with SiteScope section in the iSPI for IP Telephony Online Help.
- Verify that the iSPI Performance for Metrics is running before opening the reports provided by the Microsoft Lync extension pack.

# **Specifying Topology Filters**

Topology filters allow you to scope or filter the reports based on the various combinations of the server performance values available in the accumulated metric data.

You can use the Topology Filter page to specify the topology filters that you require.

To access the Topology Filter page and specify the topology filters, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Topology Filters > Launch Topology Selector** from the left panel on the NNM iSPI Performance page. This displays the Topology Filter page.
- 2. Select the topology filter as required from the list of topology filters using any of the following methods:
  - If you want to select only one value for a topology attribute, click the Single value select

```
and then select a value of your choice.
icon
```

- If you want to select multiple values, click the Multi value select icon then select values of your choice (by using the Control Ctrl-key.
- If you want to search and select a value from a list of values, click the Search and Select A DECEMBER OF THE OWNER i

If you want to search and select a value for a topology filter from a list of values, click the

This displays the following options: Search and Select icon

- Keywords: selecting the Keywords check box helps you search for values based on the keywords that you specify in the box provided. You can specify multiple keywords separated by white spaces. Click the **Options** link to and select from the available options to specify how the specified keywords must be used to perform the search. You can select the **Case insensitive** check box if you do not want the keywords to be searched based on case sensitivity.
- **Results**: This list displays the topology filter values that match the specifications you provided after you click the **Search** button. You can select the values that you want and click the **Insert** button to move the selected values to the **Choices** list. The report uses the topology filter values in the Choices list to generate the report.
- Choices: This list displays the topology filter values that you have selected to generate the report. You can select values that you do not want to be used and then click the Remove button to move the values back to the Results list.

Note: You can use the Select All link to select all the listed values. You can use the Deselect All link to clear all the selected values.

- 3. Select the **Not** option to specify that the selected topology filter must not be considered when generating the report.
- 4. Click **Apply+Return** to select the topology filter and generate the report. Clicking Apply selects the specified topology filters and lets you choose additional topology filters for the report.

**Note:** You can click **Reset** to clear all the topology filters you selected.

You can specify the topology filters based on the following attributes or dimensions.

Call Attribute	Description
NodeGroup Name	The name of the node group.

Call Attribute	Description
Node UUID	The UUID of the node.
Node Name	The name of the node.
Node Contact	The contact for the node.
Node Location	The location of the node.
Node Family	The family that the node is a part of.
Node Vendor	The vendor for the node.
Node ID	The unique ID of the node.
Node ODBID	The ODBID of the node.
Node HostName	The host name for the node.
Tenant Name	The tenant name associated with the node.
Tenant UUID	The UUID of the tenant associated with the node.
SecGroup Name	The name of the security group associated with the node.
SecGroup UUID	The UUID of the security group associated with the node.
Monitor Name	The server monitor name.
Monitor Type	The server monitor type.
Site Name	The user-configured NNMi Site.
Site UUID	The site UUID
Lync Site Name	The Lync Site name
Lync Site UUID	The Lync Site UUID.
Pool FQDN	The pool FQDN.

**Note:**:On the Topology Filters page, if you do not find a specific attribute value that you want to include in the filter selection from the **Selection** list, verify the following details:

- The Topology Filters page lists the attribute values in the **Selection** list. The list of attribute values are displayed based on all the performance metric records available in the database at a given point of time.
- By default, the Topology Filters page lists only 5000 distinct values in the **Selection** list for a specific attribute. If you are unable to find a specific value in the list, you can click the **Search** and **Select** icon to select the value of your choice.

## **Specifying Time Controls**

You can specify the time-specific details using which you want the report to be generated using the Time Control workspace on the NNM iSPI Performance page.:

To specify time controls, do as follows:

- 1. Click **Time Control** from the left panel on the NNMi Performance page. This displays the following options:
  - Relative Start: sets the date and time for report generation. based on the time frame specified in the Last drop-down list. Select Yes to enable this option. If you select No, you can specify the Start Date, Time (start time), the End Date, Time(end time), and the Interval to be used to generate the reports.
  - Last: set the time frame for which the report must be generated from this drop-down list. You can select one of the following options:
    - 1 Minute
    - 5 Minutes
    - 15 Minutes
    - 30 Minutes
    - 1 Hour
    - 2 Hours
    - 12 Hours
    - 24 Hours
    - 7 Days
    - 31 Days
    - Other: Select this option to specify the time frame of your choice.
- 2. Grain: set the interval at which the report must represent data.
- 3. **Time Zone**: Select the time zone based on which you want to generate the report, from this drop-down list.
- 4. **Auto Refresh**: set the auto refresh rate for the report to a specific interval or disable the auto refresh feature for the report.
- 5. Click Submit to apply the changes.

## **Microsoft Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft audio video conferencing server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports

### To access the Microsoft Audio Video Conferencing Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports.
- 4. Click **AV\_Conferencing\_Server**. This displays the reports you can launch for the audio video conferencing server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the <sup>1</sup> (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

#### 3. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Audio Video Conferencing Server Performance Metric	Description
Failed Add Conference Requests (sum)	Number of add-conference failed responses returned.
Exception - Failed Add Conference Requests (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Number of Conferences (sum)	The number of active conferences on the A/V Conferencing Server.

Audio Video Conferencing Server Performance Metric	Description
Exception - Number of Conferences (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Health State (sum)	The current health of the MCU. 0 = Normal. 1 = Loaded. 2 = Full. 3 = Unavailable.
Exception - Health State (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> HTTP Stack Load (sum)	The estimated time to process all pending items in the HTTP stack measured in milliseconds
Exception - HTTP Stack Load (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Processor Time	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - Page Faults (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception - Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count of conferences.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 426 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 426 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:

- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 426 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🔛. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The

sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 🔼

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

### Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Lync Audio Video Conferencing Server Reports" on page 426 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Microsoft Archiving Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft archiving server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports

### To access the Microsoft Archiving Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click Archiving\_Server. This displays the reports you can launch for the archiving server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🔁 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

1. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Archiving Server Performance Metric	Description
Queue Latency (ms)	The average time (in milliseconds) a request is held in the database queue.
Exception -Queue Latency (ms) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
DB Write Failures (sum)	Number of messages failed to be written to SQL database.
Exception - DB Write Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Invalid Messages (sum)	The number of messages for which validation failed.
Exception - Invalid Messages (sum)	The quality of the metric.

Archiving Server Performance Metric	Description
Dropped Messages (sum)	Number of messages dropped from MSMQ queue.
Exception - Dropped Messages (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Blocked Client Threads (sum)	The average number of blocked client threads waiting for the queue depth to decrease.
Exception Blocked Client Threads (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Processor Time	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - Page Faults (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception - Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed

- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 433 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 433 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.

- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 433 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🔛. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The

sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Archiving Server Reports" on page 433 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 10: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Lync Director Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Director server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports

To access the Microsoft Director Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click **Director\_Server**. This displays the reports you can launch for the Director Server.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

Note: You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🛅 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

1. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Director Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Authorization Latency (ms)	The average time (in milliseconds) it takes to process a RtcAuthorizeDelegate sproc call.
Exception -Authorization Latency (ms) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Search Latency	The average time (in milliseconds) it takes to perform the actual LDAP search.
Exception - Search Latency (ms) (sum)	The quality of the metric.

Director Server Performance Metric	Description
Directory Outstanding Searches (sum)	Total number of outstanding searches on this LDAP session in the Directory Search component of the Communications Server User Services Module associated with a GC.
Exception - Directory Outstanding Searches (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> LDAP Errors/sec (sum)	Per-second rate of errors on this LDAP session in the Directory Search component of the Communications Server User Services Module associated with a GC.
Exception - LDAP Errors/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> ReplicaReplicator Agent ProcessorTime (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception ReplicaReplicator Agent ProcessorTime (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
<sup>1</sup> Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
ExceptionRTC Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The sum of the RTC Service Page Faults in a second.
Exception - RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	The sum of the RTC Service Thread Count.
Exception - RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	The sum of the RTC Service Private Bytes.
Exception - RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Exception ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count
Sample Count (sum)	The sum of the sample count.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 440 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

### **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 440 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 440 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric

value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of call attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Director Server Reports" on page 440 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Edge Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Edge Server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports

To access the Microsoft Edge Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click Edge\_Server. This displays the reports you can launch for the edge server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🔁 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

### 1. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Failed to Establish Connections/sec (sum)	The sum of the Failed to Establish Connections in a second.
Exception -Failed to Establish Connections/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Disconnected Clients/sec (Invalid Cookie Date) (sum)	The sum of the Disconnected Clients in a second due to an invalid cookie date.
Exception - Disconnected Clients/sec (Invalid Cookie Date) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Bad Requests Received/sec (sum)	The number of bad requests received/sec
Exception - Bad Requests Received/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP-Authentication Failures/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of failed attempts to authenticate with the relay over UDP.
Exception - UDP-Authentication Failures/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP-Requests Exceeding Limit/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of allocate requests over UDP that exceeded the port limit.
Exception UDP-Requests Exceeding Limit/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP-Active Sessions Exceeding Avg Bandwidth (sum)	The sum of the UDP-Active Sessions Exceeding Average Bandwidth.
Exception - UDP-Active Sessions Exceeding Avg Bandwidth (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP-Client Request Errors/sec (sum)	The sum of the UDP-Client Request Errors in a second.
Exception - UDP-Client Request Errors/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP-Client Send Request Errors/sec (sum)	The Number of Client Send Errors/sec
Exception - UDP-Client Send Request Errors/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP- Session Idle Timeouts/sec (sum)	Session Idle timeouts

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
Exception - UDP- Session Idle Timeouts/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> UDP- Packets Dropped /sec (sum)	The per-second rate of packets over UDP dropped by the relay.
Exception -Packets Dropped /sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Authentication Failures/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of failed attempts to authenticate with the relay over TCP
Exception - TCP Authentication Failures/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Requests Exceeding Limits/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of allocate requests over TCP that exceeded the port limit.
Exception TCP Requests Exceeding Limits/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Active Sessions Exceeding Average Bandwidth (sum)	The number of active relay sessions over TCP that are exceeding bandwidth limit.
Exception TCP Active Sessions Exceeding Average Bandwidth (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Client Request Errors/sec (sum)	The Number of Client Requests Errors/sec
Exception TCP Client Request Errors/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Client Send Request Errors/sec (sum)	The Number of Client Send Errors/sec
Exception TCP Client Send Request Errors/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP Session Idle Timeout/sec (sum)	Session Idle timeouts
Exception TCP Session Idle Timeout/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> TCP packets Dropped/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of packets over TCP dropped by the relay.
Exception TCP packets Dropped/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Pending Transactions (sum)	The number of established TLS connections that are currently active. TLS Connection is considered established when peer certificate and, possibly, host name are verified for trust relationship.
Exception Pending Transactions (sum)	The quality of the metric.

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Connections (Access Proxies Only) (sum)	The total number of connections that were dropped because the limit on number of incoming connections from a federated partner or clearinghouse was exceeded.
Exception Dropped Connections (Access Proxies Only) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Requests Send Timed-Out (sum)	The total number of sends dropped because they stayed in the outgoing (send) queue for too long.
Exception Requests Send Timed-Out (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> SIP Flow Controlled Connections (sum)	The number of connections that are currently being flow- controlled (no socket receives are posted).
Exception SIP Flow Controlled Connections (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Flow Controlled Connections Dropped (sum)	The total number of connections dropped because of excessive flow-control.
Exception Flow Controlled Connections Dropped (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Requests Dropped/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of incoming requests dropped because they could not be processed (due to bad headers, insufficient routing information, server resource allocation failure).
Exception Incoming Requests Dropped/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Responses Dropped/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of incoming responses dropped because they could not be processed (due to bad headers, insufficient routing information, server resource allocation failure).
Exception Incoming Responses Dropped/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages/sec (Certificate Mismatch) (sum)	The per-second rate of messages dropped because the remote peer's certificate did not contain a matching FQDN.
Exception Dropped Messages/sec (Certificate Mismatch) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Messages in Server (sum)	The number of messages currently being processed by the server.
Exception Messages in Server (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Incoming Messages Help (Above Overload Watermark) (sum)	The number of incoming messages currently being held by the server for processing for more than the overload watermark time threshold.
Exception Incoming Messages Help (Above	The quality of the metric.

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
Overload Watermark) (sum)	
<sup>1</sup> Address Space Usage (%)	The percentage of available address space currently in use by the server process.
Exception Address Space Usage (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Rejected Edge Server Connections/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of server connections rejected at the external edge because all federation is disabled.
Exception Rejected Edge Server Connections/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Rejected Edge Client Connections/sec (sum)	The per-second rate of client connections rejected at the external edge because remote user access is disabled.
Exception Rejected Edge Client Connections/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages/sec (Unknown Domain)	The per-second rate of messages that could not be routed because the message domain is not in the routing table.
Exception Dropped Messages /sec (Unknown Domain)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages/sec (Blocked Domain) (sum)	The per-second rate of messages dropped at the external edge because the domain is in the blocked list.
Exception Dropped Messages /sec (Blocked Domain) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages/sec (Blocked IM Service ) (sum)	The per-second rate of messages dropped at the external edge because the domain resolved by DNS SRV to a server that is blocked in the IM Service Providers table.
Exception Dropped Messages /sec (Blocked TM Service) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages/sec (Incompatible Message Domain) (sum)	The per-second rate of messages dropped at the external edge because the federation type of the domain is incompatible with previous messages.
Exception Dropped Messages /sec (Incompatible Message Domain) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Throttled Server Connections (sum)	The number of server connections currently that are throttled
Exception Throttled Server Connections (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Throttled System (sum)	This value indicates that system wide throttling is on
Exception Throttled System (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Disconnected Clients/sec (Invalid Cookie	The per-second rate of number of clients rejected due to invalid

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
Time Stamp) (sum)	timestamps
Exception Disconnected Clients/sec (Invalid Cookie Time Stamp) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Refused Connections/sec (Server Overload) (sum)	The per-second rate of the connections that were refused with Service Unavailable response because the server was overloaded.
Exception Refused Connections/sec (Server Overload) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages (Routing Failure) (sum)	The sum of the dropped messages due to a routing failure.
Exception Dropped Messages (Routing Failure) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Dropped Messages (Internal Error) (sum)	The number of messages dropped due to an internal server error.
Exception Dropped Messages (Internal Error) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Data Proxy Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception Data Proxy Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Data Proxy Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception Data Proxy Page Faults/sec	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Data Proxy Private Bytes (sum)	The sum of the Data Proxy Private Bytes.
Exception Data Proxy Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Data Proxy Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception Data Proxy Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception Media Relay Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception Media Relay Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception Media Relay Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter

Edge Server Performance Metric	Description
Exception Media Relay Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Authentication Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception Media Relay Authentication Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Authentication Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception Media Relay Authentication Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Authentication Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception Media Relay Authentication Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Relay Authentication Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception Media Relay Authentication Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Processor Time (%)	The percentage of the RTC Service Processor Time.
ExceptionRTC Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception - RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception - RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	The sum of the RTC Service Private Bytes. that raised an exception.
Exception ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count

 $^1 \ensuremath{\mathsf{Y}}\xspace$ ou can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 447 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 447 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 447 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric

value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 100: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Edge Server Reports" on page 447 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Frontend Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Frontend Server:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports

To access the Microsoft Frontend Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click Front\_End\_Server. This displays the reports you can launch for the Frontend server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🔁 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

### 1. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

FrontEnd Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Queue Latency (ms)	The amount of time( in milliseconds) that a request spent in the back end queue.
Exception - Queue Latency (ms)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Backend Processing Latency (ms)	The amount of time (in milliseconds) that the back end spent in processing a request.
Exception - Backend Processing Latency (ms)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Average Hold Time (Incoming)	The average amount of time taken by the server to process a request.
Exception - Average Hold Time (Incoming)	The quality of the metric.
Unhandled Application Exceptions (sum)	The number of unhandled application exceptions.
<sup>1</sup> SIP 503 Responses/sec	The number of 503 responses per second. The 503 code indicates that the server is unavailable.
Exception SIP 503 Responses/sec	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> SIP 504 Responses/sec	The number of 504 responses per second. The 504 code indicates connectivity problems with other servers.
Exception SIP 504 Responses/sec	The quality of the metric.
SIP Sends Outstanding (sum)	The number of requests and responses that are queued outbound.
Exception - SIP Sends Outstanding (sum)	The quality of the metric.
DATAMCU Compliance Errors (sum)	The number of errors reported by the compliance module.
Exception - DATAMCU Compliance Errors (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Avg Blocked Client Threads (ms)	The average blocked client threads in milliseconds.
Pending Active Directory Requests (sum)	Current number of requests waiting on Active Directory responses.
Pending Active Directory Responses (sum)	Current number of requests waiting on Active Directory responses.

FrontEnd Server Performance Metric	Description
Exception -Unhandled Application Exceptions (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Session Queues State (sum)	The state of the session queues.
Average Member Properties Fetch Time (ms) (sum)	The sum of the Average Member Properties Fetch Time in milliseconds.
Exception - Session Queues State (sum)	The quality of the metric.
MCU Health State (sum)	The current health of the MCU. 0 = Normal. 1 = Loaded. 2 = Full. 3 = Unavailable.
<sup>1</sup> Distribution List Expansion Failed Authorizations/sec	The per-second rate of unauthorized requesters.
Exception - MCU Health State (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Registrar Module DB Queue Latency (ms)	The average time (in milliseconds) a request is held in the database queue by Registrar Module.
Exception -Registrar Module DB Queue Latency (ms)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Distribution List Expansion SOAP Exceptions/sec	The per-second rate of Soap Exceptions.
ExceptionAvg Blocked Client Threads (ms) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> DATAMCU Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - Pending Active Directory Requests (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> DATAMCU Service Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
<sup>1</sup> DATAMCU Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter.
Exception - Average Member Properties Fetch Time (ms) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Exception - Distribution List Expansion Failed Authorizations/sec	The quality of the metric.
DATAMCU Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter.
Exception - Distribution List Expansion SOAP Exceptions/sec	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - DATAMCU Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.

FrontEnd Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - DATAMCU Service Page Faults/sec	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter.
Exception - DATAMCU Service Private Bytes	The quality of the metric.
Exception - DATAMCU Service Thread Count	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count
ExceptionRTC Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
Exception - RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Exception - RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Exception - RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Lync Site Name	The Lync Site name
Lync Site UUID	The Lync Site UUID.
Pool FQDN	The pool FQDN.

<sup>1</sup>You can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

## **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed

- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 459 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 459 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:

- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Heat Chart Report

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 459 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Top N Report**

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The

sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 🔼

### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Frontend Server Reports" on page 459 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Mediation Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Mediation Server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports

### To access the Microsoft Mediation Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click **Mediation\_Server**. This displays the reports you can launch for the Microsoft Mediation server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the <sup>1</sup> (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

1. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Mediation Server Performance Metric	Description
Outbound Calls Rejected (Load) (sum)	The number of SIP INVITEs from proxy which were rejected immediately because of server load.
Exception -Outbound Calls Rejected (Load) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Inbound Calls Rejected (Load) (sum)	The number of SIP INVITEs from gateway which were rejected immediately because of server load
Exception - Inbound Calls Rejected (Load) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Mediation Server Performance Metric	Description
--	---
<sup>1</sup> Load Call Failure Index	Scaled index between zero and 100 that is related to all call failures due to heavy load.
Exception - Load Call Failure Index	The quality of the metric.
Failed Calls (Unexpected Interaction from Proxy) (sum)	The number of calls that failed because of unexpected interaction from the Proxy.
Exception - Failed Calls (Unexpected Interaction from Proxy) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Failed Calls (Unexpected Interaction from Gateway) (sum)	The number of calls that failed because of unexpected interaction from a gateway.
Exception Failed Calls (Unexpected Interaction from Gateway) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Media Connectivity Check Failures	Number of media connectivity check failures.
Exception - Media Connectivity Check Failures	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Global Health (sum)	Global health indicator - 0 means DISABLED, 1 is NORMAL, 2 is LIGHTLOAD, 3 is HEAVYLOAD and 4 is OVERLOADED
Exception -Global Health (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - Processor Time (%) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - Page Faults/sec	The quality of the metric.
Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception -Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter.
Exception - Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time (%)	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count.

 $^1 \ensuremath{\mathsf{Y}}\xspace$ ou can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# Types of Reports

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 468 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 468 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 468 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the

values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Mediation Server Reports" on page 468 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Monitoring Server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports

To access the Microsoft Monitoring Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications > Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click Monitoring\_Server. This displays the reports you can launch for the Monitoring server.

## **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🔁 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

#### 1. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Monitoring Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Queue Latency (ms)	The average time (in milliseconds) a request is held in the database queue.
Exception - Queue Latency (ms)	The quality of the metric.
Fatal SQL Errors (sum)	The total number of fatal SQL errors since the server started.
Exception - Fatal SQL Errors (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Incorrect MSMQ Messages (Type/Version) (sum)	This counter represents the total number of MSMQ messages discarded because they were not of the expected type or version.
Exception - Incorrect MSMQ Messages (Type/Version) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Dropped Reports (DB Insertion Failure) (sum)	This counter represents the total number of reports that were dropped due to database insertion failure. The transaction was committed prematurely due to an unrecoverable database error.
Exception - Dropped Reports (DB Insertion Failure) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Deadlocks (sum)	The total number of deadlocks that have occurred since the server started.
Exception - Deadlocks (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ODBC Failures (sum)	The total number of ODBC timeout failures that have occurred since the server started.
Exception - ODBC Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Severe SQL Errors (sum)	The total number of severe SQL errors since the server started.
Exception - Severe SQL Errors (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Throttled Requests (sum)	The total number of requests that were rejected with a retry- after since the database queue latency was high.
Exception - Throttled Requests (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Invalid Messages (sum)	The number of messages that failed validation.
Exception - Exception Invalid Messages (sum)	The quality of the metric.

Monitoring Server Performance Metric	Description
Dropped Messages (sum)	Number of messages dropped from MSMQ queue.
Exception - Dropped Messages (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Transactions Aborted (sum)	The number of transactions aborted.
Exception - Transactions Aborted (sum)	The quality of the metric.
DB Write Failures (sum)	The number of messages failed to be written to SQL database.
Exception - DB Write Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Unknown Failures (sum)	The total count of unknown error report failures.
Exception - Unknown Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Internal Lock Triggered Failures (sum)	The total count of error report failures due to internal locks.
Exception - Internal Lock Triggered Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Throttled Errors (Max Reports Per Minute) (sum)	The total count of throttled error reports due to max report per minute limit.
ExceptionThrottled Errors (Max Reports Per Minute) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> QMS Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter of Qms Service.
Exception - QMS Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> QMS Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - QMS Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
QMS Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception - QMS Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
QMS Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception - QMS Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec	The quality of the metric.

Monitoring Server Performance Metric	Description
ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTCCDR Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter
Exception -RTCCDR Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTCCDR Service Page Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception -RTCCDR Service Page Faults/sec	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTCCDR Service Private Bytes	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception -RTCCDR Service Private Bytes	The quality of the metric.
RTCCDR Service Thread Count	Monitors the Thread Count counter
Exception -RTCCDR Service Thread Count	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy)
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count

 $^1\!\mathrm{You}$  can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed

- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Calendar Report

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 475 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 475 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:

- Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
- **Table**: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
- Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 475 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon 🔛. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select **Yes** from the **Display Time Series Chart** drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the **Show Chart** link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The

sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon 🔼

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Monitoring Server Reports" on page 475 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.

4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon **1**. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

# **Microsoft Registrar Server Reports**

You can view the following types of reports using this extension pack for the Microsoft Registrar Server.:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N

- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

## Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports

#### To access the Microsoft Registrar Server reports from the NNMi console:

- 1. Log on to the NNMi console.
- 2. Click Actions > HP NNM iSPI Performance > Reporting Report Menu from the menu bar. This launches the NNM iSPI Performance Report Menu page.
- 3. Click **UCC Applications** > **Microsoft Lync**. This displays the Microsoft servers for which you can launch the .reports,
- 4. Click **Registrar\_Server**. This displays the reports you can launch for the Registrar server.

# **Specifying Metrics for Reports**

You can use the **Options** link to specify the metrics or the attribute distinct count, based on which you want to generate the report.

#### To access the Report Options page and specify the metrics, do as follows:

- 1. From any report that is displayed, click **Options** from the menu. This displays the Report Options page.
- 2. Select the primary metric and the secondary metric from the respective drop-down lists as required for the report.

**Note:** You can add more metrics for the report by clicking the 🔁 (Add) icon and then selecting the metric of your choice from the drop-down list displayed.

1. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

Click here to see the metrics that you can select to generate reports.

Registrar Server Performance Metric	Description
<sup>1</sup> Queue Latency (ms)	The average time (in milliseconds) a request is held in the database queue.
Exception - Queue Latency (ms)	The quality of the metric.
Dropped Requests (sum)	The number of requests that have been dropped by the database layer because they would time out.
Exception - Dropped Requests (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Rejected Registers	The total number of legacy Registers rejected due to publisher being in rich mode.

Registrar Server Performance Metric	Description
Exception - Rejected Registers	The quality of the metric.
Disconnected Endpoints (Indirectly Connected) (sum)	The total number of indirectly connected endpoints disconnected due to error responses.
Exception - Disconnected Endpoints (Indirectly Connected) (sum)	The quality of the metric.
DeRegistration Notifications (sum)	The total number of 'deregistered' notifications sent. A 'deregistered' notification is sent to a contact when server decides the contact is no longer valid.
Exception DeRegistration Notifications (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Disconnected Endpoints (sum)	The total number of endpoints disconnected due to missed keep-alive.
Exception - Disconnected Endpoints (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Queue Depth (sum)	The average number of database requests waiting to be executed.
Exception - Queue Depth (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Deadlocks (sum)	The total number of deadlocks that have occurred since the server started.
Exception - Deadlocks (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Deadlock Failures (sum)	The total number of deadlock failures that have occurred since the server started.
Exception - Deadlock Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ODBC Timeout Failures (sum)	The total number of ODBC timeout failures that have occurred since the server started.
Exception -ODBC Timeout Failures (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Severe SQL Errors (sum)	The total number of severe SQL errors since the server started.
Exception - Severe SQL Errors (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Fatal SQL Errors (sum)	The total number of fatal SQL errors since the server started.
Exception - Fatal SQL Errors (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Throttled Requests/sec	The number of requests that were rejected in a second with a retry-after since the database queue latency was high.
Exception - Throttled Requests/sec	The quality of the metric.

Registrar Server Performance Metric	Description
Throttled Requests (sum)	The total number of requests that were rejected with a retry after the database queue latency was high
Exception - Throttled Requests (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter.
ExceptionRTC Service Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception - RTC Service Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter.
Exception - RTC Service Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter.
Exception - RTC Service Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> ReplicaReplicator Agent Processor Time (%)	Monitors the % Processor Time counter.
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Processor Time (%)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> ReplicaReplicator Agent Faults/sec	Monitors the Page Faults/sec counter
Exception ReplicaReplicator Agent Page Faults/sec (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	Monitors the Private Bytes counter
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Private Bytes (sum)	The quality of the metric.
ReplicaReplicator Agent Thread Count (sum)	Monitors the Thread Count counter.
Exception - ReplicaReplicator Agent Thread Count (sum)	The quality of the metric.
<sup>1</sup> Total Processor Time	Monitors the Working Set counter(Logging only policy).
Exception - Total Processor Time (sum)	The quality of the metric.
Counters in Error (sum)	Metrics Error Count.

 $^1 \ensuremath{\mathsf{Y}}\xspace$ ou can select any of the following options for the metric:

- Average (avg)
- Minimum (min)
- Maximum (max)

# **Types of Reports**

This extension pack helps you to generate the following types of reports based on the metrics that you specify:

- Chart Detail
- Heat Chart
- Top N
- Most Changed
- Calendar
- Top N Chart

### **Calendar Report**

The Calendar Report uses a traditional, calendar-style layout to show hourly statistics for two metrics in a single, extended graph spanning over multiple days. By default, this report displays the data for the current month.

#### To launch a Calendar Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Calendar report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.

Note: If you select a time range that is less than 24 hours, the report displays the following message: This report is not designed to operate with a time range of less than 24 hours. Please modify your time selections.

- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 484 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click Confirm Selection to generate the report.

## **Chart Detail Report**

This report plots the selected call metrics on a chart at each display grain interval within the specified time frame. This report helps you to do a detailed analysis of the trend of aggregated metric values (aggregated at selected display grain interval) over a period of time. Based on your requirements, you can select a pair of metrics for which you want to analyze the data.

#### To launch a Chart Detail Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Chart Detail report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422 to specify the topology filters to be applied on the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 484 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report. You can select one of the following options from the Chart or Table drop-down list to specify the format in which you want the report to be displayed:
  - Chart: specifies the report to be displayed as a chart. The Chart Detail report uses this option by default.
  - Table: specifies the report to be displayed in a tabular format. The table lists the rows based on the specified display grain (time interval) and displays the corresponding values for the primary and the secondary metrics.
  - Chart and Table: specifies the report to be displayed both in a chart and a tabular format.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## **Heat Chart Report**

This report displays the hourly values of the selected metric in a color-coded tabular format. The report lists the hour of the day vertically and the day of the month horizontally. The report also displays the legend for the color coding on top of the report using which you can identify the color code used to represent the specific value ranges for the metric. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric for which you want to see the value range across a specified time frame.

Note: You can launch this report for a minimum time frame of 24 hours only.

#### To launch a Heat Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Heat Chart report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Perform the steps in the section "Specifying Topology Filters" on page 422to specify the topology filters to be applied for the report.
- 4. Perform the steps listed in the "Specifying Metrics for Reports" on page 484 to specify the primary metric and the secondary metric for the report.
- 5. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Report

Based on your selection metrics, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric. The report displays the rank of the metric value along with the metric value and the percentage of the metric value with respect to all the

values listed. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis. You can use this report to identify the metric values that had occurrences at the extremes. You can also use this report to investigate historical sampled data for the metrics that exhibit unusual occurrence levels.

#### To launch a Top N Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the **Grouping by:** drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N**: drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.

- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. You can select Yes from the Display Time Series Chart drop-down list if you want the report to display the data in the form of a chart. The chart uses a different color to plot each Top N attribute. Alternatively, you can click the Show Chart link to view the chart after you generate the report.
- 8. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Most Changed Report

This report compares the variation in the metric values for two different (consecutive) time periods for specified grouping of attributes and ranks these groups of attributes based on the variation. The sort order lists the attributes from the attributes with the most changed values to the attributes with the least changed values. The report displays the value of the metric for the previous time frame and the current time frame along with the difference and the percentage of change in the value. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric, specify the attribute to group by, select the topology filter to scope the report only for certain attribute values, and specify the time range before generating the report.

You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional attribute drop-

down lists displayed by clicking the **Remove Grouping** icon M.

#### To launch a Most Changed Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section "Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Most Changed report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied to the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.
- 5. Select the metric for the report.from the Metric: drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes.
  - **Top 5**: lists the top five specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists the top 10 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists the top 25 specified attributes with the maximum metric value variation in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.

## Top N Chart Report

Based on your selection of the attributes and the metric, this report ranks the attribute values in the ascending or descending order of the total raw values of the metric along with a chart that plots the change of values over the specified time frame. Based on your requirement, you can select a metric using the **Options** link and specify the topology filter using the **Topology Filter** link to fine tune the analysis.

#### To launch a Top N Chart Report based on your requirements, do as follows:

- 1. Perform the steps in the section"Accessing the Microsoft Registrar Server Reports" on page 484 to launch the Top N report for a specific time frame.
- 2. Specify the time controls for the report as mentioned in the "Specifying Time Controls" on page 425 section.
- 3. Click **Options** from the menu.
- 4. Select the topology filter to be applied for the report from the Grouping by: drop-down list.

**Note:** You can select multiple attributes by clicking the **Add New Grouping** icon <sup>1</sup>. Clicking on this icon displays another drop-down list of the attributes. You can remove the additional

attribute drop-down lists displayed by clicking the Remove Grouping icon M.

- 5. Select the metric for the report from the **Metric:** drop-down list.
- 6. Select one of the following options from the **Top N:** drop-down list to view the report for the specified number of attributes:
  - **Top 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 25**: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 50**: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Top 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the maximum metric value in the descending order of the value with the highest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 5**: lists five of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - **Bottom 10**: lists 10 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 25: lists 25 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
  - Bottom 50: lists 50 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.

- **Bottom 100**: lists 100 of the specified attributes with the lowest metric value in the ascending order of the value with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Descending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the descending order of the value, with the highest value at the top of the list.
- Sort All in Ascending: lists all the specified attributes with the metric value in the ascending order of the value, with the lowest value at the top of the list.
- 7. Click **Confirm Selection** to generate the report.